ACCELERATING SALT REDUCTION IN EUROPE

0

A COUNTRY SUPPORT PACKAGE TO REDUCE POPULATION SALT INTAKE IN THE WHO EUROPEAN REGION



ABSTRACT

Excessive consumption of salt (more than 5 g per day) raises blood pressure, a major risk factor for cardiovascular diseases such as heart disease and stroke, and is the leading cause of death in the WHO European Region. Many countries in the Region have initiated national salt reduction strategies, including public awareness campaigns, reformulation, and front-of-pack nutrition labelling. However, despite ongoing efforts, surveillance data indicate that salt intake still far exceeds the limits recommended by WHO to protect health. More concerted efforts are needed to develop effective national salt reduction programmes, conduct high-quality surveillance, and implement policies and interventions that are known to be effective in reducing population-level salt intake. In response, the WHO Regional Office for Europe – through the WHO European Office for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases in Moscow, as part of its mandate to support Member States and provide technical leadership for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases in the Region – has produced this country support package, which countries throughout the Region can use either to accelerate existing efforts to reduce salt intake or to embark on salt reduction journeys that have yet to begin.

KEYWORDS

CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES – prevention and control DIET, SODIUM-RESTRICTED – utilization HYPERTENSION – prevention and control NUTRITION AND FOOD SAFETY SODIUM CHLORIDE, DIETARY NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASES

Address requests about publications of the WHO Regional Office for Europe to:

Publications WHO Regional Office for Europe UN City, Marmorvej 51 DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

Alternatively, complete an online request form for documentation, health information, or for permission to quote or translate, on the Regional Office website (http://www.euro.who.int/pubrequest).

\odot World Health Organization 2020

All rights reserved. The Regional Office for Europe of the World Health Organization welcomes requests for permission to reproduce or translate its publications, in part or in full.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by the World Health Organization to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either express or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall the World Health Organization be liable for damages arising from its use. The views expressed by authors, editors, or expert groups do not necessarily represent the decisions or the stated policy of the World Health Organization.

CONTENTS

Fore	word by Dr Hans Henri P. Kluge	iv
Fore	word by Dr Tom Frieden	v
Ackn	owledgements	v vi vi vi Europe 5 m 7 m 7 m 7 m 7 m 7 m 7 m 7 m 7 m 7 m 7
Abbr	eviations	vi
1.	Introduction	1
1.1	Salt reduction strategies	3
1.2	Salt reduction initiatives in Europe	5
2.	Programme management	7
2.1	Form a small leadership team	7
2.2	Gather key stakeholders	8
2.3	Secure a budget	8
2.4	Set a national target for population salt intake	9
2.5	Identify and agree on specific objectives of the initiative	9
2.6	Develop the implementation plan and define specific activities	10
2.7	Develop a monitoring and evaluation plan	10
2.8	Countering myths about salt/sodium	10
3.	Technical support	13
3.1	Measuring and monitoring salt consumption, main sources of salt, sodium content in foods, and population knowledge, attitudes and behaviour	13
3.2	Setting targets to reduce the sodium content of food	23
3.3	Modelling dietary salt intake to achieve population salt reduction	27
4.	Policy intervention	31
4.1	Improving health literacy: educate and communicate to empower for change	31
4.2	Creating healthy food environments through reformulation	34
4.3	Identifying opportunities for the use of salt substitutes	37
4.4	Implementing standards for front-of-pack nutrition labelling	38
4.5	Implementing standards for marketing to children	41
4.6	Interventions in settings to support less consumption of salt	43
Refe	rences	49

by Dr Hans Henri P. Kluge

FOREWORD

In recent decades, dietary patterns across Europe and the world have been transformed primarily by the increasing predominance of processed foods, urbanization and changing lifestyles. Highly processed foods are generally very high in salt and are becoming more widely available and affordable.

Raised blood pressure is a major risk factor for cardiovascular diseases and is the leading cause of death in the WHO European Region. Excessive consumption of salt (more than 5 g per day) has been proven to increase blood pressure and is closely linked with heart disease and stroke. WHO has issued sodium intake guidelines that recommend consumption of no more than 5 g of salt (2 g of sodium) per day, to be achieved through a population approach to salt reduction. Despite ongoing efforts across the WHO European Region, surveillance data show that we are still consuming far too much salt to protect population health.

Based on the Sustainable Development Goals and the WHO General Programme of Work 2019–2023, WHO is in the process of adopting the new European Programme of Work that sets out the Regional Office's strategic direction, with a central focus on driving public health impact in every country. As part of the monitoring framework, a target of a 20% reduction in premature mortality from noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) by 2023 has been set. Ensuring healthy diets will be essential to meet this target and achieve the Sustainable Development Goals, and the reduction of salt consumption at the population level has been singled out as a highly cost-effective best buy intervention for the prevention of NCDs.

The WHO European Food and Nutrition Action Plan 2015–2020 provides a framework for action to progress towards healthy diets for all in the WHO European Region. While we can be proud of what has already been achieved, when it comes to salt reduction in particular, more must be done – especially in the eastern part of the Region, where salt intakes are among the highest in the world.

Member States of the WHO European Region are in an excellent position to accelerate national initiatives to reduce salt consumption at the population level and show the way forward for countries around the world. Comprehensive, population-level salt reduction requires policy commitment, partnerships, and the engagement of different sectors, including government, academia, civil society and, importantly, the private sector.

This practical country support package has been developed as part of WHO's support and technical leadership for the prevention of NCDs. WHO stands ready to support Member States across the Region to take action to reduce salt consumption and save lives.

Dr Hans Henri P. Kluge

Regional Director, WHO Regional Office for Europe

FOREWORD

by Dr Tom Frieden

Each year, cardiovascular disease kills 18 million people worldwide, with excess salt consumption responsible for an estimated 3 million deaths from heart disease, stroke and related causes. But it doesn't have to be that way: many of these deaths could be prevented using evidence-based strategies for dietary salt reduction available today. WHO Member States' commitment to reducing the global population's intake of salt by 30% by 2025 could save an estimated 1.65 million lives each year.

At Resolve to Save Lives, an initiative of Vital Strategies, reducing sodium intake is key to our goal of partnering with countries to save 100 million lives by improving cardiovascular disease prevention and treatment. A 30% reduction in global salt intake alone would save 40 million lives over 30 years. Resolve works closely with WHO at global, regional and country levels to promote effective sodium reduction strategies.

Salt reduction saves both lives and money. It is one of the most cost-effective ways to improve health around the world, earning it recognition as a WHO best buy. By lowering the risk of developing high blood pressure and heart disease, salt reduction reduces both human suffering and the need for costly medical care. For every dollar spent on salt reduction efforts, an estimated 19 dollars can be saved as a result of reduced disability and premature deaths.

The WHO European Region has been a leader in salt reduction efforts worldwide, serving as a testing ground for valuable interventions. In the United Kingdom, the salt reduction programme showed the potential of industry reformulation of high-sodium products. In Hungary, the Public Health Product Tax reduced salt intake by taxing salty snacks. Finland demonstrated the effectiveness of a broader set of salt reduction efforts, including salt warning labels, reformulation and public awareness campaigns.

In spite of these strides, sodium intake remains far above recommended levels across the Region. There is an urgent need to both scale up proven strategies and explore innovative sodium reduction programmes.

This country support package for salt reduction is a clear step forward in providing practical strategies, tools and relevant examples to help countries take action to achieve their commitments on salt reduction. Though the most appropriate approaches to salt reduction may vary somewhat by country, a comprehensive package that covers a range of proven strategies is ideal. Advocacy efforts as well as monitoring to measure salt intake and identify key sources of salt are all essential. But the real benefits are likely to come from effective regulation of the food environment. This can include setting salt reduction targets for the food industry, requiring front-of-pack labelling, promoting low-sodium salts that replace sodium with potassium, and establishing healthy public spaces through healthy public food procurement policy and interventions among restaurants and supermarkets.

Resolve applauds the WHO European Region for its commitment to accelerating progress on salt reduction and sharing lessons learned with the global community. I look forward to a continued partnership with WHO as this country support package is used to support effective salt reduction strategies – and thereby save lives – around the world.

Dr Tom Frieden

Resolve to Save Lives

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The WHO European Office for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases wishes to express its appreciation to all those whose efforts have made the production of this country support package possible. The quality of the product is due to the invaluable contributions of many international experts who assisted in its conceptual development, provided technical content and undertook a process of peer review.

This publication was written with primary contributions from Branka Legetic, Stephen Whiting, Clare Farrand, Francesco Cappuccio and Marieke Hendriksen under the overall guidance and supervision of João Breda. The authors are grateful to Ivo Rakovac, Laura Cobb, Lindsay Steele, Keeva Duffy and Kremlin Wickramasinghe for their specific contributions and comments on the publication.

The authors would also like to acknowledge the European Salt Action Network for supporting the development of the overall concept and structure of the publication.

This publication is made possible by funding from the Government of the Russian Federation within the context of the WHO European Office for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases.

This support package has been prepared for countries to use when taking action to reduce population salt consumption. Its aim is to support country teams in establishing or scaling up population-based salt reduction initiatives. It is inspired by existing toolkits, guidance documents and protocols published by WHO and others, but tailored to the regional context.

Editor: Ben Dupré Design: Studio 2M

	BP	blood pressure
	CHD	coronary heart disease
	CVD	cardiovascular disease
	ESAN	European Salt Action Network
	EU	European Union
	FCDB	food composition database
	FFQ	food frequency questionnaire
	FLIP	Food Label Information Program
	FOPL	front-of-pack nutrition labelling
	HFSS	high in fats, salt and sugar
	KAB	knowledge, attitude, behaviour
	M&E	monitoring and evaluation
\mathbf{m}	NCD	noncommunicable disease
	SWA	sales-weighted average
	USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
	WASH	World Action on Salt and Health

INTRODUCTION

The human body requires small amounts of sodium to regulate body fluids and maintain critical body functions. Over the course of human evolution, sodium found naturally in foods was physiologically enough because the body developed mechanisms to retain and conserve it.¹ Today, however, increasing production of processed foods, rapid urbanization and changing lifestyles are transforming dietary patterns. Highly processed foods, high in salt, fat and sugar, are becoming increasingly available and affordable, and so are having a growing impact on health.^{2.3}

High salt intake is a major cause of raised blood pressure (BP), which increases the risk of cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) such as stroke, heart disease and heart attack, the leading cause of death worldwide.⁴ A moderate reduction in salt consumption causes a significant reduction in BP and is associated with reduced cardiovascular events.^{5, 6, 7, 8}

In response to such findings and on the basis of clear, high-quality evidence, WHO issued a guideline on sodium intake for adults and children.⁹ WHO recommends a reduction to less than 2 g/day sodium (5 g/day salt) for adults, and for children a maximum of 2 g/day sodium adjusted downwards based on the energy requirements of children relative to those of adults.

Further, as part of the Global Action Plan to reduce the growing burden of noncommunicable diseases (NCDs), such as CVDs, in 2013 the World Health Assembly agreed a global target of a 30% reduction in population salt intake by 2025, to be achieved through comprehensive salt reduction strategies.¹⁰

Reducing population salt consumption has been recognized as a WHO best buy for NCD prevention and control; it is estimated that lowering BP by reducing salt intake even by a small amount (15%) would prevent 8.5 million premature deaths in 10 years in low- and middle-income economies¹¹ and could deliver cost savings in high-income countries.¹²

At the population level, salt reduction can be achieved through a combination of measures, such as awareness campaigns that alert consumers to the dangers of a high-salt diet and promote increased consumption of fresh fruits, vegetables and legumes and reduced consumption of processed foods; reformulation of processed foods and meals by the food industry; and replacing salt with lower-sodium "salt substitutes".

Most of the evidence on effectiveness of interventions comes from high-income countries, with limited evidence from low- and middle-income countries.^{13, 14} Furthermore, among socioeconomically disadvantaged groups, knowledge of government guidance is often lower while voluntary table salt use and total salt intake may be higher.^{15, 16} In such groups, salt intake can be 5–10% higher, so action to reduce salt consumption is essential in reducing health inequalities.¹⁷

In countries across the WHO European Region for which data are available, populationlevel average salt intake is universally higher than recommended. Data from salt



intake surveys indicate that salt intake among the general population ranges from 8.7 g in the Netherlands to 19.0 g in Kazakhstan.¹⁸ CVDs are the leading cause of death, disability and premature mortality in the European Region, and there is significant potential for health gains from prevention based on reducing population intake of salt. In addition, both hypertension and CVD are more prevalent in socioeconomically deprived populations, where people are more likely to depend on cheaper, unhealthy processed foods that are high in salt.

KEY TERMS IN SALT REDUCTION

Salt is the commonly used name for **sodium chloride**, which consists of 40% sodium and 60% chloride by weight. Salt provides about 90% of the sodium in the human diet.

Note the following conversion: 2.5 g (2500 mg) of salt = 1.0 g (1000 mg) of sodium.

Sodium is naturally available in foods and drinks and is added (in the form of salt) to foods and meals during processing by industry, chefs and caterers, and by consumers at home while preparing foods.

The act of reducing **dietary salt intake** implies reducing **total sodium intake** from all dietary sources, including (for example) salt added during food manufacturing and processing, sodium additives such as monosodium glutamate and other sodium-based preservatives or taste enhancers, as well as salt added at the table and in cooking.

Where **salt substitutes** (in which sodium is partially replaced by potassium and other components) are advocated, **sodium reduction** may be achieved without **salt reduction**, so it is important that the two terms are distinguished. WHO is currently reviewing the evidence on the use of low-salt substitutes and will develop guidelines on the safe use of such substitutes based on this research.

SALT REDUCTION SAVES LIVES

Reducing population sodium consumption by 1.2 g (3 g salt) per day in the United Kingdom would reduce mean systolic blood pressure by approximately 2.5 mmHg, annually preventing approximately 4450 deaths from cardiovascular disease (CVD) and saving £40 million.

Reducing population consumption of sodium to 2 g(5 g salt) per day in Norway would reduce the risk of stroke by 4.2%, the risk of myocardial infarction by 3.8%, and the use of antihypertensives by 4.9%. Over 25 years, this translates into a reduction in heart attack by 7000, stroke mortality by 4500, and 87 000 quality-adjusted life-years saved.⁸

It has been estimated that reducing dietary intake of sodium in the United States of America to the level recommended by US dietary guidelines (2.4 g sodium/6 g salt) would reduce the prevalence of hypertension by 30%, or 11 million new cases, save US\$ 18 billion, and save 312 000 quality-adjusted life-years. A 1.2 g sodium (3 g salt) reduction from current intake could reduce incidence of coronary heart disease (CHD) by up to 120 000, heart attack by up to 99 000, stroke by up to 66 000, and mortality by up to 92 000 per year. If population sodium consumption was only reduced by 400 mg (1000 mg salt), incidence of CHD would still be reduced by up to 32 000, heart attack by up to 23 000, and mortality by up to 32 000.

If mean dietary sodium intake was decreased by 1840 mg (4600 mg salt) per day, the prevalence of hypertension in Canadians would be expected to decrease by 30%, resulting in an estimated annual health-care saving of Can\$ 430 million.⁶

Box 1.

Key terms in salt reduction

Box 2. Salt reduction saves lives

1.1 SALT REDUCTION STRATEGIES

The WHO European Food and Nutrition Action Plan aims to significantly reduce the burden of preventable diet-related NCDs such as CVDs, through comprehensive, integrated policy actions to improve the nutritional quality of diets.¹⁹ Developing, extending and evaluating integrated salt reduction strategies remains a priority in the Region.

These strategies comprise consumer awareness, education and skills, food product reformulation, interpretative front-of-pack labelling, marketing restrictions on unhealthy foods high in salt (as well as fat and sugar), and food standards for public institutions. In particular, dietary changes that reduce consumption of highly processed foods and food product reformulation, whereby the composition of manufactured foods is modified so as to improve the overall nutritional quality of diets, are important mechanisms for achieving the goals of population salt reduction.²⁰ In many European countries, it is estimated that about 75–80% of dietary salt consumed comes from manufactured foods, so progressing towards consumption of less processed food, and more unprocessed food, is essential.²¹

In general, strategies for salt reduction include:

- the government devising policies to ensure that food manufacturers and retailers produce and sell healthier foods (including unprocessed fruits and vegetables and reformulated products with less salt) that are clearly labelled, widely available and affordable;
- working with the private sector to reformulate foods and improve the availability and accessibility of low-salt products, table salt with less sodium, and salt substitutes;
- promoting consumer awareness and empowerment of populations through health literacy, social marketing and mobilization to raise awareness of the need to reduce salt consumption, by changing diets towards more unprocessed, plant-based foods, choosing low-salt products, and using salt with less sodium and salt substitutes;
- creating an enabling environment for salt reduction through local policy interventions and the promotion of healthy food settings in schools, workplaces, hospitals and other health facilities, communities, and cities; and
- monitoring population salt intake, sources of salt in the diet, and consumer knowledge, attitudes and behaviours relating to salt, in order to inform policy decisions.

Salt is often used as a vehicle to deliver micronutrients, particularly iodine. Iodine deficiency disorders are a global public health problem and many existing programmes to address iodine deficiency rely on salt as a carrier of iodine. The WHO guideline on sodium intake recommends that salt reduction programmes and programmes that promote fortification of salts with micronutrients such as iodine can coexist, but steps need to be taken to synergize programmes for elimination of iodine deficiency and salt reduction.⁹ In particular, there is a real risk that the messages are perceived as being in conflict. Public awareness campaigns should be clear in encouraging the use of so-called iodized salt while advocating an overall reduction in the use of salts. Furthermore, the amount of iodine added to the salt should be adjusted to ensure that as salt intake decreases, iodine intake remains the same.



The WHO pillars of salt reduction

Box 4.

WHO partners in salt reduction

THE WHO PILLARS OF SALT REDUCTION

The SHAKE Technical Package for Salt Reduction

This package outlines the policies and interventions that have been effective in reducing population salt intake and provides evidence of the efficacy of the recommended actions.

Creating an enabling environment for population-based salt reduction strategies

The focus of this report is on interventions for improved health literacy, consumer education and reformulation of industrially produced foods, to enable consumers to make appropriate choices to reduce the total sodium content of their diet.

Strategies to monitor and evaluate population sodium consumption and sources of sodium in the diet

This report identifies the appropriate tools and protocols to monitor/evaluate population sodium consumption and sources of sodium in the diet.

Salt reduction and iodine fortification strategies in public health

This report examines how salt reduction and iodine fortification can efficiently and effectively work together for the benefit of populations affected.

WHO PARTNERS IN SALT REDUCTION

WHO European Salt Action Network (ESAN)

The WHO Action Network on Salt Reduction in the Population in the European Region (European Salt Action Network (ESAN)) was established in 2007 under the auspices of WHO and with the support of the United Kingdom Food Standards Agency. Since May 2013 Switzerland has chaired ESAN. The network consists of 33 of the Member States of the WHO European Region. Participants include governmental institutions (or those nominated by government) and representatives of WHO and WHO collaborating centres.

The network was established in response to concerns about the increasing salt consumption of the European population, in line with the WHO Regional Office for Europe's designation of salt reduction as a priority intervention for tackling NCDs among people in the Region.

WHO collaborating centres

- WHO Collaborating Centre for Nutrition University of Warwick
- Centre on Population Approaches for Non-Communicable Disease Prevention University of Oxford
- WHO Collaborating Centre for Nutrition
 Netherlands National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (RIVM)
- WHO Collaborating Centre for Nutrition Policy for Chronic Disease Prevention University of Toronto
- WHO Collaborating Centre for Population Salt Reduction The George Institute for Global Health, Sydney

- WHO Collaborating Center for Social Marketing and Social Change to Address Non-Communicable Diseases
 University of South Florida
- WHO Collaborating Centre for Obesity Prevention, Nutrition and Physical Activity Leibniz Institute, Bremen

1.2 SALT REDUCTION INITIATIVES IN EUROPE²²

According to data from *Monitoring noncommunicable disease commitments in Europe*, published by the WHO Regional Office for Europe in 2017,²³ 47% of countries in the WHO European Region report that they have fully implemented national policies on salt reduction. Policies include taxes on high-salt food (Hungary), mandatory high-salt content labels (Finland, Israel), and targets for reformulation and close monitoring of the food supply (Spain, United Kingdom). The majority do so by engaging the industry on a voluntary basis to reduce the salt content of products; bread is the main food targeted for reformulation (36%), followed by processed meat (28%) and ready-made foods (23%). Fewer countries have taken steps to establish category-specific targets for a wider range of food products.

Evaluations of national salt reduction programmes have shown that it is possible to reduce the salt intake of a population through a combination of measures. This was demonstrated by the United Kingdom's salt reduction strategy, which involved a comprehensive population awareness campaign on diet change, coupled with category-specific food reformulation targets covering the manufactured food supply; the strategy led to a reduction of salt in food and a 15% reduction in population-level salt intake between 2003 and 2011.²⁴ Average salt intake also fell in Finland, by 25–30% between 1979 and 2007, as a result of systematic action on salt, including information on changing diets in a healthier direction and labelling regulations mandating that high-salt foods include warning labels that help consumers to identify products with a reduced salt content.²⁵

Nevertheless, more work is needed on the development and implementation of comprehensive salt reduction strategies if declines in salt intake are to be seen in many countries of the WHO European Region. Overall, salt reduction strategies are least common in eastern European and central Asian countries. This is a major concern as limited data suggest that these countries have the highest salt intake in the Region and the salt content of foods is extremely high.

The issue for countries in the WHO European Region is no longer *whether* reducing salt intake is of public benefit but rather *how best* to achieve a steady, significant and sustained reduction in salt consumption towards the WHO-recommended levels.²⁶

This country support package provides guidance on the key steps needed to implement a comprehensive national salt reduction programme, with accompanying tools that support implementation of each of these steps. Depending on country context, some areas will be easier to implement and more relevant to prioritize, but it is important to remember that a comprehensive programme should, over time, include all the relevant aspects.



- PROGRAMME MANAGEMENT
- _ TECHNICAL SUPPORT
- POLICY INTERVENTION.

For each section, there are a number of related **Resources**, which consist of various downloadable tools, protocols and case studies. These are mentioned at relevant places in the text and also listed together at the end of each section.

At the end of each section, there is also a **Checklist**, which summarizes the steps that need to be taken when implementing the various measures and interventions described in the preceding text.

PROGRAMME MANAGEMENT

Successful and sustainable salt reduction programmes require good management. This section outlines the necessary structure and processes that must be put in place to successfully manage a national salt reduction programme.

2.1 FORM A SMALL LEADERSHIP TEAM

Strong and focused leadership is critical to ensure advocacy and successful programme development. The leadership should be situated within, or closely associated with, the government or another highly regarded health-related institution or organization, so that respect is gained among decision-makers, the health-care community and the population. A small core team should be supported by a broader group of experts with different expertise.

The core group requires a **leader** – someone with leadership characteristics and recognized in society for their work on (for example) hypertension, health promotion or nutrition reformulation. There should also be a **secretariat** to support the operation of the core group.

PREPARING THE GROUND FOR A GOVERNMENT-LED SALT REDUCTION PROGRAMME

If the country has already shown commitment and put initiatives in place to fight NCDs and hypertension, the circumstances are likely to be favourable to the development and implementation of a salt reduction initiative with government staff at the helm.

If, on the other hand, the country is struggling with conflicting priorities and each government sector is occupied with its own specific tasks, the government may not be ready to step up and play a leadership role. As a first step, it may be necessary for researchers and/or civil society to advocate for population-based salt reduction by highlighting the importance of NCDs and hypertension.

The leadership team's main task is to **build the case** for salt reduction. The case is built on situation analysis and literature search, backed up by additional research if necessary. The findings of the technical support stage can also be used to strengthen the case for policy change.

Box 5. Preparing the ground for a government-led salt reduction programme

\$



Provides research questions that offer support in developing a situation analysis and determining whether there is a need for additional research

2.2 GATHER KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The leadership team should do a quick stakeholder analysis to identify people with potential interests in salt reduction, opportunities and challenges and determine the readiness of stakeholders to act. This can be achieved by administering a stakeholder interview/questionnaire with potential stakeholders who have been identified. These activities will help the leadership team to establish the **advisory committee** or to identify expertise to be engaged in specific tasks.

The advisory committee is accountable to the leadership team. A wide range of expertise is needed to contribute to different parts of the initiative: epidemiologists and statisticians, public health researchers, cardiologists and nutrition scientists (monitoring and surveillance), food technologists (reformulation), as well as anthropologists and health promotion specialists, patient group leaders, civil society representatives (advocacy and health literacy) and policy-makers. Food manufacturers should not form part of the advisory committee.

Stakeholders typically have some understanding of the problem. They may recognize the health challenge (the what), as well as the context (the where and the when); the missing part is usually the how – the way in which the problem can be addressed and their own role in achieving a solution. This kind of understanding will take time to develop, as mutual respect and trust are built along the way. The meeting with stakeholders provides information on how they can support the salt reduction initiative.

Some stakeholders – salt producers/distributors, manufacturers and retailers, caterers, the iodine fortification community, etc. – may feel threatened by the initiative. Their motives and concerns need to be taken into consideration, albeit from an objective perspective.

2.3 SECURE A BUDGET

At the beginning of the programme, the seed budget should be secured. Then, to ensure sustainability, regular sources of funding should be established. It is worth considering appointing someone whose responsibility will be to actively look for and secure a regular stream of resources.

All countries have some policies or mechanisms in place – however limited – that will be a useful basis for developing a salt reduction initiative. As such, resources (data and/or funds) should not be a barrier to taking the first steps and building political support. For instance, the research community can contribute with projects/papers related to hypertension prevention, or data can be collected on salt in popular foods (from the label), at low cost. Although small, these efforts and the results obtained are likely to generate significant interest in the media and among the public and policy-makers.

There are various resources available that can be used to build the case for salt reduction. For example, resources from World Action on Salt and Health (WASH) are useful at international level, while those from ESAN are useful at both national and international levels.



RESOURCES

Terms of reference for the advisory committee

Declaration of interests for advisory committee members

Potential stakeholders

Stakeholder consultation meeting agenda (example)

Stakeholder interview guide (example)



RESOURCES Five-year budget template A national initiative on salt reduction can be a stand-alone, or it can be integrated as part of a national CVD prevention or healthy diet initiative, working in close relationship with nutrition programmes.

2.4 SET A NATIONAL TARGET FOR POPULATION SALT INTAKE

When setting national targets for population salt intake, the following should be taken into consideration:

- the WHO recommendation of less than 5 g salt intake per day per person the ideal long-term population intake goal;
- the WHO global target of a 30% relative reduction in population intake of salt by 2025 - the basis for a time-bound target; and
- existing targets from neighbouring countries with similar diets and living conditions.

The first two are not mutually exclusive – it may be worth having a population intake goal alongside a salt reduction target. Those responsible for programme management at country level should consider establishing interim targets (for example) in year 3 and year 5 as a means of monitoring progress and allowing adjustment of targets as needed.

2.5 IDENTIFY AND AGREE ON SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES OF THE INITIATIVE

The objectives may focus on the following:

- measuring population average salt consumption;
- increasing population awareness about salt intake and ensuring that the public has the tools to act on their knowledge (increasing demand for lower-salt products; encouraging less use of discretionary salt; promoting use of front-of-pack labelling; providing people with tools to choose meals with less salt in restaurants and other out-of-home settings);
- reducing the amount of salt in foods via reformulation (encouraging the food industry, catering businesses, and vendors to use less salt in food);
- establishing monitoring systems to track salt intake among the population, salt in food and relevant changes to population diet (salt intake and main sources of salt, as well as knowledge and behaviour of population groups, so target population can be selected); and
- creating a supportive environment, including by setting standards for food in public spaces (such as schools, workplaces, government organizations and health facilities).

The core objectives of the salt reduction initiative can be expanded to include additional objectives, including research questions such as assessment of potassium and iodine intake, economic analysis, policy evaluation, and new methods for monitoring salt intake.

If the initiative is part of a broader programme, such as an NCD or CVD programme, the objectives need to be tailored to fit with the broader initiative.



RESOURCES United Kingdom salt reduction programme (case study)

Example of a stand-alone salt reduction programme

Spanish Collaboration Plan (case study)

A programme developed as part of a broader national obesity prevention initiative

2.6 DEVELOP THE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN AND DEFINE SPECIFIC ACTIVITIES

The implementation plan should have specific timelines, roles, responsibilities, and clear provisions for monitoring and evaluation (with clearly stated criteria). Under each objective, specific activities should be developed, taking into account the policy context, capacity and available budget.

2.7 DEVELOP A MONITORING AND EVALUATION PLAN

A monitoring and evaluation (M&E) plan is a key component of a salt reduction strategy and should be drawn up as part of the overall programme. The plan should aim to include objectives to monitor progress through process indicators, as well as the final results of programme interventions through outcome indicators. Each of the interventions should have its own set of indicators. In this way, the effectiveness of different interventions can be determined, and they can be tailored and improved accordingly.

Monitoring changes in population salt intake is a critical part of the M&E plan. In addition, it should aim to capture changes in the levels of sodium in the most important dietary sources of sodium and changes in knowledge and behaviour of the population in relation to salt consumption, as well as long-term outcome measures such as levels of BP in the population. It should also gauge the effects of specific policy actions on specific population groups or the environment.

The evaluation of the salt reduction programme should include the following outcome indicators:

- reduced mean population salt intake measured through a repeat baseline survey method (for example, analysis of 24-hour urine samples);
- reduced sodium content of key food products, either from labels or food product analysis;
- increased knowledge, attitudes and behaviours related to salt through repeated baseline surveys;
- reduced population BP;
- reduced prevalence of hypertension; and
- cost-effective approach to prevention of CVDs.

2.8 COUNTERING MYTHS ABOUT SALT/SODIUM

While building a case for salt reduction and preparing the initiative, the country team may encounter and have to deal with various myths about salt/sodium and the relevance of salt/sodium reduction. Some of the more common myths are explained in the Table $1.^{27}$



RESOURCES Programme monitoring plan (example)

Includes process (outcome) and impact (output) indicators

ACCELERATING SALT REDUCTION IN EUROPE

10

Myth	Facts
Our body needs salt.	The body efficiently conserves salt. It is very difficult to eat too little salt as it is already present in most foods we eat every day. People in some remote areas of the world or in rural areas of developing countries manage to survive on a fraction of the amount of salt eaten in developed countries. There is no evidence of harmful effects of a modest reduction in salt intake.
The current salt intake is a physiologically set normal range in adult humans.	Over several million years of evolution, humankind has survived on very little salt in the diet (less than 0.25 g of salt per day). Even in modern times, this very low intake is still seen in the Yanomami and Xingu peoples living in the humid and hot environment of the Amazon rainforest. They eat less than 1200 mg of sodium (3 g of salt) per day, their BP does not rise with age, and stroke events are rare. Meanwhile, in the populations of industrialized countries, the high sodium intake – typically 3600–4800 mg of sodium (9–12 g of salt) per day – is a very recent phenomenon in evolutionary terms. In these groups, BP rises steadily with age, often followed by stroke and CHD.
The normal salt intake is between 7.0 and 12.5 g per day.	The range of dietary salt reported by some people as "normal" is only the <i>usual</i> range in industrialized/developed countries. It is not physiologically normal. The physiological level compatible with life is seen when access to dietary salt is limited, as in parts of the Amazon rainforest. Furthermore, this excessive sodium intake is not a matter of personal choice. Only 15–20% of sodium in our diets comes from that added to food by consumers.
Public policy cannot modify salt intake.	The short-term experience of the United Kingdom (a population salt reduction of 15%, or 1.4 g salt per day, achieved in seven years) and the longer-term experience of Finland and Japan (about 3 g salt per day population reduction achieved over two decades) demonstrate that public health policy can lead to substantial reductions in population salt intake. Such reductions are paralleled by significant reductions in population BP and stroke rates, with ensuing cost savings. These reductions have very little to do with changing individual behaviour, but mainly reflect a healthier environment: the reformulation of industrially produced and distributed foods with lower sodium content. The vast majority of individuals in most developed countries have little choice over how much salt they eat because of the global distribution of processed foods. The health benefits of salt reduction are greater if mandatory regulations for food reformulation are introduced.
We need salt in hot climates or when we exercise because we sweat a lot.	We only lose a small amount of salt through sweat. We are adaptable. The less salt we eat, the lower the salt content of our sweat. Thus, in hot climates, while it is important to drink plenty of water to avoid dehydration, we do not need to eat more salt.
Consumer taste preferences make change impossible.	As salt intake falls, the salt taste receptors in the mouth become more sensitive to lower concentrations of salt within a couple of months. Furthermore, consumer experience in the United Kingdom confirms that, where salt has been gradually reduced in major-brand products, there has been no reduction in sales and no complaints about taste. Once salt intake is reduced, people actually prefer food with less salt.

Table 1. Salt myths and related facts

Table 1. contd

SECTION 2.	
PROGRAMME	MANAGEMENT

CHECKLIST

RESOURCES

Myth	Facts
Only old people need to worry about how much salt they eat.	Eating too much salt raises BP at any age, starting at birth and affecting children of all ages.
Traditional highly salted foods do not seem to harm the Portuguese.	Average salt intake in Portugal is high – approximately 15 g per day. However, BP is higher in Portugal than neighbouring countries and their stroke rates have been traditionally among the highest in Europe. This has improved recently, after Portugal started to reduce population salt intake.
Only people with hypertension need to reduce their salt intake.	A reduction in salt intake reduces BP in both normotensive and hypertensive individuals. In some ways, it is particularly important that people without hypertension reduce their salt intake, because the population-wide number of cardiovascular events that can be attributed to their level of BP is high, but their BP does not make them eligible for drug therapy.

- ✓ core team, leadership and secretariat
- background information including situation analysis, existing research and policies
- stakeholder analysis with understanding of opportunities and barriers
- ✓ budget
- clearly defined national target for salt intake
- clearly stated objectives of the initiative
- ✓ implementation plan
- monitoring and evaluation plan
- > Building a case for salt reduction
- > Terms of reference for the advisory committee
- > Declaration of interests for advisory committee members
- > Potential stakeholders
- > Stakeholder consultation meeting agenda (example)
- > Five-year budget template
- > United Kingdom salt reduction programme (case study)
- > Spanish Collaboration Plan (case study)
- > Programme monitoring and evaluation plan (example)



12

TECHNICAL SUPPORT

A salt reduction programme needs specific technical support for measuring and monitoring population salt consumption patterns, including measuring population salt intake, identifying sources of salt in the diet, measuring sodium contents of foods, and assessing knowledge, attitudes and behaviour with respect to salt (section 3.1). Some of these data provide the basis for policy interventions, such as informing the development of consumer awareness campaigns and reformulation activities. All of these data will inform the monitoring and evaluation activities of the salt reduction programme.

In addition, this section provides guidance and resources to support the implementation of key components of comprehensive salt reduction programmes, including setting of target salt levels in foods (section 3.2) and dietary salt intake modelling to achieve the desired reduction in population salt intake (section 3.3).

3.1 MEASURING AND MONITORING SALT CONSUMPTION, MAIN SOURCES OF SALT, SODIUM CONTENT IN FOODS, AND POPULATION KNOWLEDGE, ATTITUDES AND BEHAVIOUR

For the purposes of the salt reduction programme, each country should develop, adjust and maintain surveillance mechanisms, using the most reliable and valid methods feasible in each country context. These purposes include:

- _ determining baseline and changes in population salt intake;
- _ monitoring the main sources of salt in the diet;
- determining baseline and changes in the salt content of foods (in manufactured/ processed foods and in restaurants); and
- _ assessing population knowledge and habits related to salt.

3.1.1 METHODS TO MONITOR POPULATION SALT CONSUMPTION

It may not be possible in all cases to obtain new data on sodium intake in the population. This should not hinder the planned initiative and other existing sources of information may be used. However, 24-hour urinary sodium excretion surveys are recommended and should be built into planning for future benchmarking and M&E.

Information on salt consumption can be sourced in the following ways.

Existing data or secondary data from comparable settings can be used. Data from a 24-hour dietary survey undertaken in a neighbouring country where the food

supply is known to be broadly similar can be used. However, cultural and other local factors should be considered when extrapolating data from other countries for the purpose of conducting situation analyses and establishing baseline intakes and consumption patterns.

Data collection can be integrated with existing or planned surveys. Assessments of salt intake or consumption patterns can be integrated into the WHO STEPwise approach to NCD surveillance, which can be used by countries to assess NCD risk factors.28

A new survey can be established. In the absence of opportunities to integrate surveys, it may be necessary to conduct a new, stand-alone survey. However, this is likely to be a more expensive and resource-intensive option, particularly in large countries with marked regional variations in dietary intakes.

The task of monitoring sodium intake and other relevant indicators should be delegated to a group that has expertise in the area and in carrying out population surveys. Potential profiles include CVD/hypertension specialists, nutrition specialists, biostatisticians, food technologists, anthropologists and public health specialists. Expert technical support can be provided by WHO and its collaborating centres.

3.1.1.1 Determining population-level sodium from 24-hour urine samples

The most accurate estimates of salt intake in the population are provided by 24-hour urinary sodium excretion surveys. It should be noted that estimates tend to be higher than those obtained by other methods (such as spot urine samples, dietary recall and food diaries). As such, in order to capture changes over time, it is recommended to conduct a baseline 24-hour survey for accuracy, followed by a repeat survey using the same methods to capture impact. The primary and secondary purposes of this method are set out in Table 2.

Table 2.

Main purposes and uses of 24-hour urinary excretion surveys

	Purpose	Further use
Primary	To estimate average intake of dietary salt in men and women in the age stratum 18–64 through measurement of 24-hour urinary sodium excretion (intake can be further differentiated by ethnicity, other target groups, socioeconomic status, geographic area, etc.)	 To design and implement interventions To determine subsequent estimates of salt intake in the same population (monitoring over time) To provide trends of salt intake against which the effectiveness of interventions aimed at population-level dietary salt reduction can be monitored
Secondary	 To estimate average intake of potassium and iodine through joint measurement of these nutrients in 24-hour urinary excretion 	
	 To determine creatinine excretion (essential) 	
	 To capture information on knowledge, attitudes and behaviours with respect to salt by means of a questionnaire 	

3.1.1.2 Use of spot urine to estimate 24-hour excretion of sodium, potassium and iodine

Some researchers have used spot urine samples to estimate the daily excreted amounts of sodium, potassium or iodine. The sample is a single urine pass collected during the day, frequently not the first pass of the morning made just after waking. However, the content of sodium, potassium and iodine depends on the volume of urine, which may be very variable among individuals of the same population, and is highly affected by age, sex, ethnic background, weather, body mass index and physical activity.

Furthermore, the urinary output of sodium, potassium and iodine is not constant across the 24 hours, introducing an unpredictable bias. Some correction has been proposed by dividing the analyte concentration by the creatinine concentration, based on the fact that creatinine excretion is more constant during the day within an individual, as it mainly depends on lean body mass. However, this correction has been found to be even less precise than expressing the absolute content by volume, especially in populations where there is undernutrition.

The use of spot urine is therefore discouraged as a method to determine sodium, potassium or iodine intake because of the limitations and uncertainty inherent in the method. 29,30,31

3.1.1.3 Use of dietary surveys to measure population sodium intake

Dietary survey methods tend to underestimate population salt consumption. All dietary methods encounter problems associated with the reliability of participants' self-reporting of their food consumption (such as under- or overreporting total food consumption or missing important sources of sodium intake), inaccurate or incomplete food composition tables, and inaccurate measurement of discretionary salt use. Sodium intake estimated by food frequency questionnaires has shown poor agreement with 24-hour urinary sodium excretion and is therefore not recommended for estimating population sodium intakes.^{32,33} It should also be noted that dietary methods rely on accurate and up-to-date food composition tables to estimate sodium contributed by food intake and require trained staff to code foods, which can be resource-intensive.

While dietary surveys are not necessarily optimal for determining average population salt consumption, they are useful for determining the main sources of salt in the diet (section 3.1.2). If dietary-based methods are used to assess population intakes, multiple 24-hour dietary recalls are the preferred option. In addition, the automated multi-pass method of the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) has been shown to perform reasonably well.

3.1.2 METHODS TO DETERMINE THE MAIN SOURCES OF SALT IN THE DIET

Several dietary survey methods are suited to the task of identifying the main sources of salt in the diet. The combination of methods and data sources in this section provides a complete profile of the dietary sources of sodium by identifying:

- _ the foods that people eat and the amounts and frequency of consumption (3.1.2.1)
- _ the amount of salt added at the table and during cooking (3.1.2.2)
- _ the intake of high-sodium foods that are culturally or regionally specific (3.1.2.3).

The variety of methods employed reflects the complexity and dynamic nature of food supplies. The country leadership team and advisory committee must select the methods that are most appropriate to their resources and circumstances.^a

P

RESOURCES How to obtain measures of population-level sodium intake in 24-hour urine samples: protocol Includes selection of sample size, field protocol and necessary documentation

WHO STEPwise approach to NCD surveillance

9

RESOURCES Automated multi-pass method

An example of an instrument used to collect information on food consumption – a computerized method for systematically collecting interviewadministered 24-hour dietary recalls, either in person or by telephone

^a Note that, in addition to sodium, data on several nutrients of concern to public health nutrition policy (saturated fats, trans fatty acids, fibre and total sugar) can be captured using the methods described here.

Most dietary survey methods rely on accurate and up-to-date food composition tables which are not available in all countries.

3.1.2.1 Foods that people eat and the amounts and frequency of consumption

3.1.2.1.1 Direct/primary data on food consumption

National **food consumption surveys** are cross-sectional in nature, capturing food consumption data from which nutrient intakes are calculated; they also collect the height/weight measurements of respondents and sometimes their nutritional and health status. Food consumption surveys can be used if the country concerned has its own food composition database (FCDB), can use one from a neighbouring country, or has access to a validated international FCDB.

In this type of survey, participants provide information on what they typically eat and drink in a defined period of time. The main methods currently used are shown in Table 3.

Definition Method Characteristics 24-hour food intake Systematic questionnaire/ Commonly used by government agencies for national surveys recall survey designed to capture all Requires considerable analysis to categorize foods and extensive follow-up foods consumed in a defined questions to ensure complete recalls 24-hour period Requires either distribution across the population of weekends and weekdays or a repeat recall on a different day (ideally a weekday and a weekend day) from a subsample of respondents to estimate usual intakes Can include additional questions to assess: salt added at table or during cooking respondents' willingness to reduce dietary sodium _ consumption out of the home to monitor the nutrition transition Recent improvements include computer-assisted questionnaires (see RESOURCES below) Food frequency FFOs collect information on Suitable for population surveys questionnaire (FFO) participants' usual dietary intake Relatively inexpensive - how frequently certain foods Most amenable to web-based administration; recent improvements include a and food groups on a predefined number of online and web-based versions which are often easier and quicker list are consumed during a to complete specified period of time Can capture intake of all nutrients of interest to national nutrition policy and can give information on overall dietary adequacy Can be expanded or contracted to include or isolate high-sodium food items. Can include additional questions to assess: salt added at table or during cooking respondents' willingness to reduce dietary sodium _ consumption out of the home to monitor the nutrition transition Represents usual nutrient intake, as diet is assessed over long periods of time (e.g. previous 12 months) Typically long because of the need to include many common food products Less accurate than 24-hour recall Needs to be validated for the specific population Three- or seven-day Written records of all foods and This method provides a highly accurate estimate of food consumption, but food diaries beverages (including amounts) it is very time-consuming compared to 24-hour dietary recalls and requires consumed over three or seven significant resources to be used at a population level. days

Table 3.Main methods usedto conduct foodconsumption surveys

3.1.2.1.2 Indirect/secondary data sources

In addition to surveys whose specific purpose is to gather data on food consumption, there are a number of indirect or secondary sources from which supplementary data can be derived. These include household income surveys and various kinds of food sales data collected by manufacturers and retailers.

Surveys of household income and expenditure (Table 4) are typically conducted by government finance or agriculture departments or by market research companies, usually for purposes other than gathering data on nutrient intakes or informing health and nutrition policy. To estimate the intake of high-salt/high-sodium products, an additional set of questions needs to be included in routine surveys and careful setting of assumptions is required. While they cannot provide precise estimates of individual food intake, such surveys have long been used to track information on national supply and household availability.

Characteristics	Such surveys are designed to provide information on the consumption patterns and economic conditions of private households in a specific time period (typical income, savings as well as consumption)
Design	 Such surveys do not generally provide information specifically on salt consumption, so if they are to be used as a data source, certain elements need to be added: self-reported information on total salt used at the table as well as in cooking (including stock cubes, dried soup mixes, different sauces) direct weighing of salt at two time points (disappearance data)
Advantage(s)	_ relatively easy to implement
Limitation(s)	 limited to a subsample of the population broad studies that require adaptation for salt consumption estimate do not account for products or losses other than for food preparation usually overestimate salt intake

The principal purpose of **food sales data and scan data** is to collect detailed information on sales by the main manufacturers and retailers, so brand information is likely to be available but there is no information on who is buying the products or how much individuals are consuming. These data can be useful for prioritizing food categories and in a context where consumption of processed foods is high and the data on sales are linked to nutrition information through universal product codes. However, information about food sales/consumption away from home (for example, in restaurants and cafeterias) is not included. Comparable methodologies can be applied across countries, and utility is increased when combined with data on food consumption patterns.

HARNESSING BIG DATA TO ANALYSE FOOD AND DRINK

Researchers at the University of Oxford, United Kingdom, have developed foodDB, a big data approach to the analysis of the food and drink marketplace. Since November 2017, foodDB has been used to collect data weekly on all foods and drinks available on six major United Kingdom supermarket websites. This is a powerful new tool for monitoring the food and drink marketplace and has potential to be expanded to other countries in Europe where the nutrition content of foods and drinks must be published online.

Table 4. Household income and expenditure (budget) surveys

Box 6. Harnessing big data to analyse food and drink

3.1.2.2 The amount of salt added at the table and during cooking (discretionary salt)

Several techniques are used to estimate discretionary salt use. In research settings, carefully controlled studies using lithium as an additive to discretionary salt allow precise estimation; these studies measure the 24-hour urine excretion of lithium to estimate the proportion of dietary salt derived from discretionary salt added during cooking or at the table.³⁴ In other settings, measurement presents a challenge because most individuals find it hard to accurately report the quantity of salt they add during cooking or at the table. The same is true of salt-containing condiments, such as stock cubes, soy or fish sauces. Where discretionary salt is a leading source of dietary salt, local knowledge – particularly knowledge of cooking techniques – is key to understanding the best methods of assessing discretionary salt use and estimating its contribution to average dietary salt intake.

3.1.2.2.1 Direct methods to estimate discretionary salt use

Qualitative methods can be used to measure salt added at the table by supplementing 24-hour dietary recalls, FFQ surveys and knowledge, attitude and behaviour (KAB) studies with questions on added salt, such as "How often do you add salt to your meal before trying?" or "How often is ordinary or seasoned salt added in cooking or preparing foods in the household?"

A number of *quantitative methods* are available to measure the amount of salt added at the table and in cooking.

Weighed household salt (disappearance method) is a method in which household salt is replaced by a defined quantity of salt that is measured after a specified period to determine how much has been used. This method can significantly exaggerate consumption because of the large amounts of salt discarded in cooking water.

Simulated meals can be used, with participants adding salt to food models or pictures of meals, which are then collected and measured. It is a simple method (often used in research studies or when targeting individuals), but it does not accurately represent what actually happens at a real meal.

Cooking practices can be observed, with the amounts of salt added during cooking noted. This method is semi-quantitative in that the observer estimates the amount of salt added by the cook. It may be difficult to generalize to large populations as household recipes can be highly variable.

Sodium levels of foods prepared, for instance, in the home, restaurants and markets can be tested through the prepared food being taken to a laboratory and the level of sodium assessed. The amount of sodium is then divided by the number of family members that eat in the same household.

If the food is purchased out of home, the most frequently bought or favourite food is taken to the laboratory for the level of sodium to be assessed; this is then added to sodium from other sources to reach an estimate of the total daily sodium intake. The WHO Regional Office for Europe has developed the FEEDcities protocol to guide measurement of the sodium content of foods sold in street food outlets and markets.³⁵

3.1.2.2.2 Indirect methods to measure discretionary salt use

Estimates of absolute and proportional intake of discretionary salt can be derived



RESOURCES FEEDcities project

Protocol to guide measurement of sodium content of foods sold in street food outlets and markets³⁵

from the results of 24-hour urinary sodium excretion surveys and primary or secondary food consumption data. An estimate is made using the following formula:

discretionary salt intake = 24-hour urinary sodium excretion (converted into salt consumption) sodium intake attributed to commercially available foods.

The accuracy of the estimate is highly dependent on the precision and certainty of measurements of consumption of commercially prepared foods. This method must also take into account commercially prepared foods consumed outside the home, including street food and food eaten in restaurants and fast-food outlets. Despite efforts to take into account non-food uses and losses, the values derived in this way may still overestimate discretionary salt intake.

3.1.2.3 Measuring culturally and regionally specific high-sodium foods

In addition to salt from processed foods and discretionary salt added to food at the table and during cooking, in many countries there are traditional condiments or accompaniments that are high in salt and frequently consumed. Examples include some pickled foods, salted meats, condiments, sauces (soy sauce, tomato sauce, specialty local sauces), marinades, curry pastes and soup mixes. Information on the use of these products is also needed in order to estimate actual salt intake.

3.1.3 DETERMINING THE SODIUM CONTENT OF THE MOST COMMONLY CONSUMED FOODS

Reducing the sodium levels in food is a core component of any salt reduction programme. Collecting data on the sodium content of commonly consumed foods is essential to determine priority food categories for salt reduction; it is also important in raising awareness of hidden salt in these foods and in informing reformulation activities. The data collected can also be used to measure changes over time.

There are several ways to collect these data. FCDBs provide details of the nutritional contents of foods, derived from quantitative analysis of representative samples of foods. FCDBs have a wide variety of uses, including determining the sodium content of foods consumed as identified in dietary assessment/food survey data.

However, FCDBs can be outdated and may not reflect the nutritional composition of foods on the market, particularly in countries with dynamic food supplies. Therefore, there are two additional methods for determining sodium content of foods: use of published or declared nutritional information generated by food manufacturers, restaurants, etc. and direct chemical analysis.

3.1.3.1 Direct/primary data

FCDBs provide detailed profiles of the nutritional composition of foods. The data they provide are essential in determining the sodium content of commonly consumed foods

identified in food consumption surveys and in prioritizing foods to be included in salt reduction efforts. They usually reflect food products consumed within a particular country, though they may extend across a region encompassing countries with a common food culture.

National FCDBs should include nutrient data (including sodium) that are reliable, upto-date and readily available for local, processed and packaged foods. It is important that they are kept up to date as food supplies are dynamic, with different products constantly entering and leaving the market, and the nutrient composition of food products may change: for example, trans fats may be eliminated, sodium levels reduced, or discretionary nutrients added, while new processes, such as moisture enhancement of meats, may be developed.

FCDBs should also aim to capture widely consumed local traditional foods, ethnic foods, and foods provided by street vendors, which may be part of daily consumption and contribute significantly to salt intake. These foods are often sold unpackaged and unlabelled, so regular sampling of the most frequently consumed foods may be required; any changes that occur in the composition of these foods should be detected by laboratory tests so that the impact of any food-related policy intervention can be monitored. The WHO FEEDcities project aims to provide data on the nutritional content of ready-to-eat street foods sold in cities across central Asia and eastern Europe (see section 3.1.3.1).

If a national FCDB is not available for a country, modifying an existing database from a neighbouring country may be possible and can be cost-saving, as the nutritional content of a large proportion of food products may already be documented. However, the database may need to be updated and supplemented by analysis of national foods in order to identify where there are significant differences.

It should also be noted that traditional national databases usually provide averages or generic composite values for certain food categories, rather than product-specific data. Therefore, this information is not enough for the purpose of monitoring changes in the salt content of key food categories by the food industry, as maximum and minimum values (as well as mean and median values) are needed.

Table 5.A number of international, regional or multi-country FCDBs, such as EuroFIR, have
been developed. These allow countries to contribute their data to a common resource
that benefits all those involved in its development. A selection of these resources
is shown in Table 5.

Location	Name	Website
Australia / New Zealand	FSANZ (Food Standards Australia New Zealand)	https://www.foodstandards.gov.au/Pages/default.aspx
	Australian Food Composition Database (NUTTAB 2006)	https://www.foodstandards.gov.au/science/ monitoringnutrients/afcd/Pages/default.aspx
Canada	Canadian Nutrient File	https://food-nutrition.canada.ca/cnf-fce/index-eng.jsp
Europe	EuroFIR (European Food Information Resource)	https://www.eurofir.org/food-information

Location	Name	Table 5. contd Website
Latin America	LATINFOODS (Latin American Food Composition Network)	http://latinfoods.inta.cl
United Kingdom	Food Standards Agency – UK Nutrient Databank, Composition of Foods Integrated Dataset (CoF IDS)	https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ composition-of-foods-integrated-dataset-cofid
	McCance and Widdowson's The Composition of Foods (CoF)(7th Summary Edition, 2015)	https://pubs.rsc.org/en/content/ebook/978-1-84973-636-7
United States	USDA Food Composition Database	https://www.nal.usda.gov/usda-food-composition- database

3.1.3.1.1 Direct chemical analysis of foods

Chemical analysis of foods provides a direct measurement of the sodium content of products. Technically, this process is relatively straightforward, but it is both time-consuming and costly. If funding is available, countries should consider this option for routine surveillance of the sodium content of foods.

Direct chemical analysis of food items for salt content is usually conducted by a titrimetric method using silver nitrate solution.³⁶ Several large food industry corporations make extensive use of direct chemical analysis of their products during development. However, in many settings this is more likely to be conducted to validate or supplement information reported on labels or websites.

3.1.3.2 Indirect/secondary data

3.1.3.2.1 Data collected through surveys

In countries where food labelling is standard practice, data about the sodium content of packaged food products can be obtained from the information given on the nutrition information panel on the packaging. Likewise, compositional information for meals bought in restaurants or other outlets may be available from company websites; for example, many large chain restaurants now display this information. Compilation of information from these sources can be a useful method for estimating the most likely levels of salt in the food supply and can provide a good baseline upon which industry action can be based and tracked.

Established methods and tools for conducting surveys of the reported levels of sodium in processed and restaurant foods are widely available.³⁷ Most involve taking a representative sample of commonly consumed food products from supermarkets and other food outlets and systematically recording the sodium content as declared on the labelling.³⁸

With increasing interest in the nutritional composition of the food supply, research organizations have taken to compiling databases of product-specific nutritional information in a format that is suitable for monitoring the salt content of commonly consumed foods purchased from shops or restaurants. These databases are usually commercial, can be expensive to access and tend to place significant constraints upon data usage. Global collaborative groups are highly active in this area and have some capacity to advise countries seeking to implement work of this type.



Shop survey protocol

Protocol to collect sodium information from packaged, processed foods in supermarkets

.....

Data obtained in this way do not show who is buying specific products or how much individuals are consuming, unless sales data are also obtained. Food industry representatives may be willing to share data on the nutritional composition of their product portfolio as well as data related to sales; however, this requires agreed and ongoing collaboration.

MONITORING THE NUTRITIONAL COMPOSITION OF THE FOOD SUPPLY

The George Institute in Sydney, Australia, has developed FoodSwitch, a data technology platform to collate data on packaged foods from countries around the world, including the United Kingdom. The aim is to influence stakeholders across the food system to improve the food environment and also to empower individuals to make healthier food choices.³⁹

The WHO Collaborating Centre for Nutrition Policy for Chronic Disease Prevention at the University of Toronto, Canada, has developed a similar tool called FLIP (Food Label Information Program). FLIP is a set of unique databases of branded food and beverage products and restaurant foods systematically collected since 2010. The database of packaged foods is updated every 2-3 years for monitoring and testing hypotheses related to the Canadian food supply.⁴⁰

Branded products that are available globally may have different formulations (such as different levels of sodium) between countries, so it is important to note their country of origin (where they were produced or processed). For similar reasons, it is also useful to know the origin(s) of imported products.

Monitoring of the sodium content of packaged foods within and between countries in the WHO European Region, conducted by the Netherlands National Institute for Public Health using nutrient data provided by EuroFIR, reveals that there is a wide range of compositions within the same product category, indicating significant scope for improvements towards the best-in-class^b products.⁴¹

Where nutrition labelling is voluntary, nutrient data may not be consistently available. Where nutrition labelling is mandatory but does not require declaration of salt/ sodium content, other sources of complementary data, such as an industry website or laboratory testing, need to be found.

Restaurant chain nutrition information is usually web-based and less consistently available. There is variability in the available data due to local customization of menu options, and information can usually be found only for standard menu items.

3.1.4 METHODS TO DETERMINE POPULATION KNOWLEDGE, ATTITUDES AND BEHAVIOURS

Understanding the factors that drive behaviour related to salt intake is important in developing interventions to reduce salt intake at population level. On the assumption that behaviour is determined or affected by existing knowledge and attitudes, understanding whether a person's salt intake behaviour is related to their knowledge about salt and its effect on health should help to inform the development of salt

Box 7.

Monitoring the nutritional composition of the food supply

^b Best-in-class/best-in-world signifies a food product with the best-quality characteristics that is produced by a food company somewhere (due to existing regulation or consumer choice); its existence proves that it is feasible to produce such quality, so the same quality of product can, in principle, be offered in any other country or part of the world.

reduction programmes. For this reason, any population salt reduction programme should include a study of knowledge, attitudes and behaviour in relation to salt intake and health.

3.1.4.1 Stand-alone questionnaire as part of a salt study

When performing a baseline study of population salt intake, in addition to collecting urine and anthropometric measures and levels of BP, it may be convenient to ask at the same time about knowledge, attitudes and behaviours with respect to salt consumption. Further advice in this area is available in *How to obtain measures of population-level sodium intake in 24-hour urine samples: protocol*, which includes a model questionnaire (section 4); see section 3.1.1.1 above.

3.1.4.2 Attaching questions or modules to existing survey instruments

As an alternative to a stand-alone salt intake survey, it is worth considering whether questions or modules specific to salt intake can be attached to existing survey instruments that collect data on risk factors for chronic NCDs.

Survey instruments, whether stand-alone or part of existing studies, can be customized to reflect national, regional or even more localized food cultures: supplementary questions can be added to (for example) national, regional or sentinel-site food consumption surveys, KAB surveys, household budget surveys, and household food disappearance studies.

3.2 SETTING TARGETS TO REDUCE THE SODIUM CONTENT OF FOOD

Achieving salt reduction at population level requires a well-structured food reformulation programme that is designed to gradually reduce the sodium content in food by setting a series of progressively lower targets for the food industry to meet.

Once the main dietary contributors to sodium intake in a country have been identified, targets can be set either for the food categories that contribute most to sodium intake or across all food categories. The extent for which targets are set will depend on the country's capacity to establish targets and monitor changes in sodium levels to keep track of progress towards targets.

Countries may set targets for the food industry alone or extend their targets to include retailers (such as quick-service restaurants, takeaways and meal-delivery businesses). If appropriate regulation is in place, targets may form part of procurement policies relating to preschool, school, worksite and hospital premises.

When setting targets, the following steps should be taken.

3.2.1 STEP 1. IDENTIFY SOURCES OF SODIUM IN THE DIET

Countries should obtain:

(a) data on dietary intake of sodium (see section 3.1.2.1 above)

(b) information on levels of sodium in foods (see section 3.1.3. above)

3.2.2 STEP 2. SELECT FOODS TO BE TARGETED – IDENTIFY PRIORITY FOOD CATEGORIES

Based on food consumption data and levels of sodium in foods, food categories that account for a large proportion of total sodium intake should be selected for targeting. Some food categories with a high volume of consumption, such as bread and other products that are very extensively purchased, may account for a large proportion of total sodium intake, even though they are not themselves especially high in sodium. Other food groups usually selected include cookies, cakes, pastries, cured meats, cheese, soup cubes and snacks. Conversely, some foods with relatively low volumes of consumption, such as soy sauce and other condiments, may contribute relatively large amounts of sodium to the diet because of their high sodium content.

Some food categories may already have been defined by countries as targets for salt reduction. Otherwise, a source of food categories needs to be identified (the Codex Alimentarius, other government definitions, categories used in other countries, etc.).

Selection of priority food categories can also be influenced by what has already been selected by other countries – particularly countries that are in a common market or from which products are imported. Some countries may decide to consider all processed food categories as well as the catering sector, while others may decide on a more gradual approach, choosing specific food categories that contribute most to sodium intake as identified in step 1 above. As national capacity increases, new food categories can then be added.

3.2.3 STEP 3. SELECT TARGETS

3.2.3.1 Decide upon types of target

Consider first if targets are to be set as an average/mean or as a maximum level of salt per food category or product. The advantages and disadvantages of the different types of target are shown in Table 6. Ideally, both an average target and a maximum target should be set for each category.

3.2.3.1.1 Average targets

Setting an average target means that manufacturers are asked to ensure that the average or mean sodium level of all the products they sell in a given category (such as in bread) is at or below the target. A simple average is the average sodium level in foods within a category regardless of volume of sales. A sales-weighted average (SWA) is the average sodium level in a food category weighted by the relative sales volume of products within the category. This is the gold standard as it indicates product consumption more accurately than the simple average and can help ensure that reductions in food products lead to a reduction in intake.

Average targets address the most popular foods within a category, especially if SWAs are used. Note, however, that averages are difficult for consumers to understand and for national authorities to compare and monitor across individual products.

3.2.3.1.1 Maximum targets

Maximum targets, setting the upper level of salt in products, are straightforward, transparent, and easier to administer, monitor and compare with levels in other products. Their advantage is that they are used in a regulatory (rather than voluntary) approach to reformulation; they ensure that there are meaningful reductions in products within a given category that have a relatively high level of salt. Such targets do not, however, affect products with levels of sodium below the maximum. Furthermore,



RESOURCES United Kingdom maximum and average salt/sodium targets (example)

Table 6.

Salt target types – advantages and disadvantages

Average targets

Advantages	Disadvantages
Relatively straightforward to derive Allows some flexibility in the levels of salt in different products within a category, some lower and some higher, allowing for different flavours Useful for foods where there is some natural variation in sodium levels, e.g. cheeses, cured meats Useful for companies to use an average target for a particular category to monitor its own compliance Compared to a maximum target, in most cases an average target requires far less reduction in sodium content in a food category to achieve a similar overall reduction in sodium intake, as there is flexibility about where to focus	 It is more difficult for consumers to compare sodium levels in individual products and for public health agencies responsible for dietary sodium reduction to monitor compliance If companies are asked to meet an average target that is derived from the whole food supply and their products are already at the lower end, they actually get credit for that fact and have less to do to meet the targets Industry may reduce the sodium in the saltiest low-selling products in a category, thereby reducing the overall average sodium level of the category without having any significant impact on actual sodium intake
Sales-weighted averages (SWAs)	
 Monitoring SWAs of different food categories, combined with food intake survey data, allows the most accurate estimates of population intake of sodium SWAs encourage more action by companies as more products are likely to need reformulation SWAs facilitate adoption of best-in-class/best-in-world products (see section 3.1.3.2, footnote b) 	 Much more difficult to monitor than simple averages in an independent and transparent way From the food industry perspective, SWAs may reveal sensitive market share information Market share data are expensive; must be repurchased to monitor SWAs as changes are made; cannot be published or distributed; an unlikely option for low- and middle-income countries SWAs do not address products high in sodium SWAs can be lowered by focusing on a few high-volume products and not address products targeted at (for example) children Monitoring on the basis of SWA would not allow a common approach for the whole food supply as some sectors, such as large restaurant chains and the food services industry, do not provide sales volume data for menu items
Maximum targets	
Advantages	Disadvantages
 Maximum targets set a clear ceiling for all products in a category Very useful for regulatory approach to reformulation 	. Maximum targets suggest that, if a food product is at or below the maximum, no further action is needed; no incentive for products to have sodium levels below the maximum

- . Can be set at around the average for a food category at one point in time and then reduced as the average shifts down
- . Easy for consumers and food companies to compare products with the maximum and evaluate compliance
- . Reduce the sodium content of products that are above the maxima below the maxima

Percentage reduction targets

Advantages	Disadvantages
May be easier for the food industryCan be used with maximum targets	. Before and after data on levels of sodium content are still needed for monitoring purposes
	. Difficult to distinguish and follow success or failure in individual food groups

Source: adapted from Campbell et al.⁴²

to have sodium levels below the maximum

that are based on SWA

participate

Companies whose products have sodium levels initially below the

May undermine adoption of best-in-class/best-in-world standards

If high-sodium products are not high-volume in consumption,

targets may have little or no impact on actual sodium intake levels . Companies whose products are below the maximum do not

maxima have no incentive to reduce their sodium content

looking at the target itself gives no indication of whether the range of salt content across a food category is changing, which makes it difficult to predict the impact a target will have on average intake.

3.2.3.1.1 Percentage reduction targets

Usually offered by industry, a percentage reduction target adds together the salt reductions in all targeted foods and expresses the sum as a percentage. This procedure makes it difficult to distinguish and follow success or failure in individual food groups and is not recommended.

3.2.3.2 Standardize the presentation of sodium content

It is important to standardize how sodium content is presented. It is recommended that targets be expressed as sodium per 100 g or 100 ml of product. If sodium content is expressed per serving size or portion, standard reference amounts should be indicated. For products that require reconstitution before consumption (such as soup cubes), indicate whether the target refers to the product "as sold" or "as consumed" (that is, prepared as per the manufacturer's instructions) per 100 g or 100 ml.

3.2.3.3 Propose timelines

The timeline should be such that the national salt intake goal or the internationally recommended goal can be reached within a period of 6–10 years. Consider initial targets that span four years with interim targets at (for instance) one- or two-year intervals to underpin monitoring and timely feedback.

Ensure that proposed timelines are grounded in successful experience elsewhere and/ or are based on evidence of achievability supported by the food technology sector.

3.2.3.4 Compare sodium in foods with existing targets

When food groups are selected, it is necessary to look at the current range of products in the category and see how their sodium levels relate to existing targets (that is, targets that already exist either within the country or in other countries). It is important that targets not only affect products but are also feasible. One way to see if targets are achievable is to see if there are representative products in the category that are already below the target.

If foods are mostly imported, the targets from the exporting countries should be used (often there is a difference between products in the country of origin and products that are exported, as companies consider regulations when exporting goods).

3.2.3.5 Draft targets and timelines for priority food categories

Based on the information gathered in previous steps and when it is clear that the proposed targets are feasible, food group targets and timelines should be drafted.

At this point, it is recommended that targets and timelines are made widely known through public announcement and invitation to the food industry and retailers to start consultations (led and managed by government) on targets. If the process is made as open and transparent as possible, discussions with the food industry and the commitments they make – as well as reformulation successes and failures along the way – will become widely known and subject to public scrutiny.

3.2.4 STEP 4. MONITOR PROGRESS

3.2.4.1 Decide on monitoring mechanisms (use combination of options)

The databases needed to monitor trends as part of the mechanisms should be established. The databases should include most products sold in the country in the key categories, and they should be public and accessible for use by consumers, researchers and civil society. It is important to include both sodium levels as well as other nutrients to ensure that changes in sodium do not lead to adverse changes in other nutrients. Sources of sodium data for the databases can include:

- industry self-reports on levels of sodium in their products
- _ sodium level in packaged foods based on label data
- _ food analysis in the laboratory to assess sodium levels in foods.

The databases should be able to generate the following information:

- mean sodium levels per category, both simple and sales-weighted if including sales data;
- _ mean sodium levels per category per manufacturer;
- _ range of sodium per category and per manufacturer; and
- number or percentage of products above specific thresholds (e.g. maximum targets), per category and per manufacturer.

3.3 MODELLING DIETARY SALT INTAKE TO ACHIEVE POPULATION SALT REDUCTION

The WHO Regional Office for Europe, in collaboration with the WHO Collaborating Centre for Population Salt Reduction at the George Institute, Sydney, Australia, has developed a methodology to guide the development of salt reduction models.⁴³ The purpose of such models is to determine the exact amount by which the sodium content in different foods (as well as in consumers' discretionary salt intake) needs to be reduced in order to achieve the WHO target of a 30% reduction in population salt intake. The model can then be used to guide the development of policies and interventions that will be needed to achieve the necessary sodium reductions and, ultimately, a 30% reduction in population salt intake.

Dietary intake modelling played a crucial role in the United Kingdom's successful salt reduction programme, both giving guidance on the reductions that needed to be achieved and helping to engage industry actors in the initiative (see box 8).

DIETARY INTAKE MODELLING IN THE UNITED KINGDOM

In the United Kingdom, the Food Standards Agency developed a salt reduction model which showed the amount by which salt needed to be reduced in different food products to reduce population salt intake to the target of 6 g per day. The salt model was then used to engage the food industry and establish progressively

9

RESOURCES European and other sodium targets

European Union Salt Reduction Framework – benchmarks and major food categories

> Box 8. Dietary intake modelling in the United Kingdom

Box 8. contd

9

RESOURCES United Kingdom salt reduction programme (case study) lowered targets for the sodium content in several product categories. Reductions in sodium levels of up to 70% were achieved in a range of food categories. This was a key component of a multifaceted strategy that by 2011 had resulted in a 15% reduction in mean population salt intake. Thus, intake in adults fell from 9.5 g to 8.1 g per day (approximately 1.5 g per person, per day), which contributed to falls in population-wide BP over the same period.^{44,45,46}

According to the WHO methodology, there are five key steps involved in developing a salt reduction model:

- obtain data on current food intake and the sodium contribution of different foods and other sources;
- 2. obtain data on the sodium content of foods (food composition data);
- calculate current food intake and the sodium contribution of different foods and other sources;
- 4. identify relevant sodium content targets for manufactured foods; and
- 5. calculate the reductions required in sodium content of manufactured foods and discretionary salt use to achieve a 30% reduction in population salt intake.

Key to the accuracy of a salt reduction model and the estimations it produces is the quality of the data input. It is important that justification for the chosen data source is provided and that methods are transparent. Under each step, guidance is provided on the appropriate data to use and how they should be handled for the purpose.

Following development of the salt reduction model, consultations with local food experts, programme leaders and policy-makers are required to interpret and design a salt reduction strategy. If manufactured foods are the major contributors, as in the United Kingdom, the salt reduction model could be used in discussions with food manufacturers to encourage gradual voluntary reductions in mean sodium content of processed foods across the food supply. Alternatively, governments may choose to regulate by setting maximum sodium limits. In countries where discretionary salt use is a major contributor, tailored interventions to encourage consumers to reduce such usage is required. The mean sodium content targets developed in the model may also be used to inform the establishment of sodium content cut-offs or criteria for interventions such as taxation, food procurement policies, and guidelines in public institutions and front-of-pack labelling schemes.



RESOURCES

Using dietary intake modelling to achieve population salt reduction: a guide to developing a countryspecific salt reduction model (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2018)⁴³ Offers detailed guidance on how to develop a country-specific salt reduction model; includes case studies from Kazakhstan and Turkey

SECTION 3. TECHNICAL SUPPORT

Monitoring instruments for salt consumption, sources, sodium content, population knowledge

- data on dietary intake (methodology developed and data obtained)
- information on levels of salt in foods (methodology developed and data obtained)
- information on knowledge and behaviours (methodology developed and data obtained)

Target-setting

- foods for target-setting selected priority food categories identified
- decision on types of target
- presentation of salt content standardized
- timelines proposed
- salt in food compared with existing targets
- targets and timelines for priority food categories drafted
- monitoring of progress defined

Development of country-specific salt model

- ✓ data on daily food intake and discretionary salt use obtained
- data on sodium content of foods obtained
- current food intake and sodium contribution of different foods and sources calculated
- relevant sodium targets for processed foods identified
- reductions required in sodium content of foods and discretionary salt use calculated to achieve 30% reduction
- How to obtain measures of population-level sodium intake in 24-hour urine samples: protocol
- Automated multi-pass method
- > FEEDcities project
- > Shop survey protocol
- > United Kingdom maximum and average salt/sodium targets (example)
- > European and other sodium targets
- European Union Salt Reduction Framework benchmarks and major food categories
- Using dietary intake modelling to achieve population salt reduction: a guide to developing a country-specific salt reduction model

CHECKLIST






POLICY INTERVENTION

The WHO European Food and Nutrition Action Plan highlights a range of government policy options that aim to reduce population salt intake by 30% by 2025.¹⁹ Key interventions include increasing consumer awareness of the impact of a high-salt diet on health (health literacy); creating healthy food and drink environments through reformulation of foods and meals and by introducing restrictions on marketing of unhealthy foods to children; implementing interpretative front-of-pack labelling and increasing food literacy; and setting food standards for public institutions to improve the availability of healthier foods.

4.1 IMPROVING HEALTH LITERACY: EDUCATE AND COMMUNICATE TO EMPOWER FOR CHANGE

Societies and individuals are increasingly challenged to make healthy choices. Research shows that only a small percentage of people are prepared to make informed decisions to protect their health, or given proper support to do so.^{47,48} The European Health Literacy Survey found that nearly half of all adults in the eight European countries tested had inadequate or problematic health literacy skills that adversely affected their health.⁴⁹ The range of skills and abilities that an individual needs to become fully health-literate are shown in the box below.

WHAT IT TAKES TO BE HEALTH-LITERATE

There is much more to health literacy than just being able to understand the language of health. This kind of literacy entails people's knowledge, motivation and competence to access, understand, appraise and apply health information in order to make judgements and take decisions in everyday life concerning health care, disease prevention and health promotion.

Ideally, a health-literate individual is able to seek and assess the health information required:

- 1. to understand and carry out instructions for self-care, including administering complex daily medical regimens;
- 2. to plan and achieve the lifestyle adjustments required for improving their health;
- 3. to make informed positive health-related decisions;
- 4. to know how to access health care and when it is necessary to do so; and
- 5. to share health-promoting activities with others and address health issues in the community and society.

Box 9. What it takes to be health-literate Regarding salt reduction in particular, the health-literate individual should know that their BP level depends on their sodium consumption; that the health risks associated with consuming too much sodium bring complications such as stroke and renal failure; that consuming less sodium has the effect of lowering BP and reducing its complications; and that behaviour such as monitoring how much salt/sodium they consume, avoiding adding salt at the table and in cooking, and seeking food products with lower sodium content can have a positive effect on their health, life and the environment.

There are several strategies that can be implemented to improve health literacy with respect to salt reduction.

- Provide reliable health information resources: always use scientific evidence published in scientific journals with clear methodology and findings. If a lay person is preparing the information, they should utilize health professionals to check that they are delivering it correctly.
- Build the foundations for health literacy in early child development: parents are highly motivated to keep their children healthy and promote healthy habits. This is a critical period to engage children in the issue of sodium intake, including its effect on BP and future health, as well as to provide advice on foods to be avoided.
- Make the healthier choice the easier choice: use nudging (the choice architecture that alters people's behaviour in a predictable way without forbidding options or significantly changing economic incentives) to catalyse change in behaviour, for example by designating sections of supermarket trolleys for fruit and vegetables and making salad rather than chips the default side order.
- Build supportive environments for consumers: promote health issues in all community gatherings and celebrations/fairs, placing healthy food in attractive and easily accessible settings in stores and supermarkets and using easy-to-read food labels and front-of-package labelling.

Planning and delivering campaigns to promote communication, education and behaviour change with respect to population-based salt consumption should be led by groups that have expertise in the area. Potential profiles include members of civil society groups, mass-media representatives, anthropologists and social marketing specialists.

4.1.1 BUILDING/RAISING AWARENESS

Awareness building is one of the key components of policy interventions within national programmes. It is important, therefore, that information is based on a situation analysis to understand if the issue of NCDs, hypertension and their relationship with salt intake is understood.

The objectives of salt reduction awareness plans are to inform and educate about the health risks associated with excessive sodium consumption; to motivate and encourage health-protective behaviours (checking food labels, not adding salt before tasting food, eating more meals at home, purchasing less fast food and more fruit and vegetables); to encourage demand for low-sodium products on the market; and to increase support for policies that lead to lower-sodium food products and a healthier food environment.



RESOURCES Developing a population awareness plan In countries where the major source of sodium intake is salt added at the table or during cooking (in the form of table salt or condiments such as seasonings, stock cubes and soy sauce), awareness raising should focus on improving people's understanding of the risk and how to avoid it (health literacy), while social marketing should aim to influence the behaviour of consumers, cooks and caterers, encouraging them to reduce their salt use. For instance, awareness building could focus on using more fresh herbs instead of salt to give spice to food and/or on weekly or monthly monitoring of salt used when cooking. Social marketing, meanwhile, could promote a measuring cup/spoon (product) to be used to measure salt added when cooking, promoting it at markets and supermarkets and on cooking channels (promotion) as a new fashion in cooking.

In countries where processed foods are the major source of sodium, awareness building should focus on increasing information and education on sources of sodium in the diet (health literacy) and behaviour change (less processed food, fewer restaurant meals and fast foods, checking labels on ready-made products). It should also encourage increased consumer engagement to create pressure on the food industry to follow through with commitments to reduce sodium, on retailers to look for fresh foods and control levels of sodium, and on governments to work on targets and other policy actions.

Social media can be very influential in awareness building, providing opportunities to create and share content on a scale barely imaginable a few years ago. Given the widespread generation and consumption of content, it would make sense to target messages towards highly influential people, or so-called influencers, who will propagate them further through social networks.

When attempts are made to influence people to change their behaviour, health – unless they are actually sick – is rarely the main motivation. A precautionary approach ("It is dangerous, you are at risk", "Stop it or you will become ill") has shown results when addressing tobacco use. With food, a benefits-based approach should be considered, focusing on things that people care about – pleasure, taste, family, fun, social status, etc.

4.1.2 APPLYING SOCIAL MARKETING PRINCIPLES

Social marketing, as defined by Andreasen and Kotler,⁵⁰ is the application of commercial marketing principles to influence social behaviours. Marketing principles that are key to social marketing include: (1) consumer focus; (2) audience segmentation; (3) the exchange theory (including analysis of the so-called competition); and (4) the marketing mix.

Several social marketing principles are reflected in current population-based efforts. Thus, product reformulation and labelling are a *product strategy*; increased access to healthy alternatives and decreased access to high-sodium products reflect a *place strategy*; and countries are looking at *price strategies* that provide incentives for healthier choices and tax increases to deter consumers from high-sodium products.

Taking a new look at current salt reduction efforts through a social marketing lens will help strengthen efforts to influence individual choice, bridging the gap between what consumers know and what they actually do. Applying a social marketing framework to salt reduction will also help to tie together population-based and individual initiatives and create even more integrated and holistic programmes.⁵¹

Complementary methodologies such as communication for behavioural impact may also be considered.⁵²

P

RESOURCES Social media campaign in support of World Salt Awareness Week 2012 (case study)

Campaign conducted on Facebook and Twitter by the Pan American Health Organization



The principles of social marketing, with a focus on its application to salt reduction

4.2 CREATING HEALTHY FOOD ENVIRONMENTS THROUGH REFORMULATION

In many European countries, it is estimated that the majority of dietary salt is obtained from manufactured food as well as from restaurants.⁵³ For this reason, food product reformulation – in which the composition of manufactured foods is modified to improve the overall nutritional quality of diets – is considered a critical policy intervention and one of the most important mechanisms for achieving the goals of population salt reduction. Successful reformulation programmes typically involve the setting of clear and progressively lower targets for salt levels in selected foods, backed up by measures that incentivize the food industry to take steps to reduce the salt content of their products, including through transparent monitoring. Ultimately, success will depend on the full engagement of the food industry, strong government leadership, adoption of challenging targets, and implementation of a transparent process that objectively defines progress.

Various forms of food reformulation, both voluntary and regulatory, have been implemented around the world (see box 10).

PRODUCT REFORMULATION AROUND THE WORLD

The United Kingdom was the first country to establish a comprehensive and highly managed salt reformulation strategy that engaged the food industry on a voluntary basis (though it was closely monitored). The strategy involved working with food industry players, including manufacturers, retailers, trade associations, caterers and suppliers. The Food Standards Agency modelled the reduction needed to engage the food industry. The initiative resulted in reductions in sodium levels of up to 70% in a range of food categories.

Subsequently, the European Union (EU) High Level Group on Diet, Physical Activity and Health developed a Framework for National Salt Initiatives, approved and adopted by EU Member States. It encouraged countries to adopt salt reformulation targets to help them achieve the WHO target salt intake of 5 g/day. Specifically, 12 categories of food were identified, from which countries selected at least five to target through their national nutrition action plans and strategies. A common minimum European benchmark of a 16% salt reduction from baseline levels over four years was established.

Some countries have set legislative limits on salt in food. This is most common in the case of bread, for which a number of European countries have set maximum limits on salt content, some of which date back at least to the 1970s. One example is the Netherlands, which established a legal maximum allowed salt content for bread. The accepted level has decreased gradually over the past decade, from 2.5% per 100 g of dry matter in 2009 to 2.1% in 2011 and 1.9% in 2012. The maximum level was last amended on 1 January 2013, to 1.8% per 100 g of dry matter. For an average dry matter content of 64%, the limit is equivalent to approximately 1.15 g/100 g of bread. Many bread producers supported the move in order to level the playing field and to ensure that consumer tastes were adapted to universally reduced salt.

Box 10.

Product reformulation around the world

Outside Europe, Argentina and South Africa are some of the best examples of countries that have chosen to implement maximum limits through legislation that applies to a wider range of product categories. The Argentine law considers the maximum limits for the main food groups that are the biggest contributors to high salt intake in the national diet; the law stipulates a period of two years before targets are subject to further revision and new food groups are included.

Reformulation involves changing the nutrient content of a processed food product either to reduce the content of negative nutrients such as sodium, saturated fat, trans fat or energy (kilojoules); or to increase the content of beneficial nutrients such as dietary fibre, wholegrains, fruit, vegetables and unsaturated fats.

Priority should be given to reformulating products that contribute most to population intake of sodium.⁵⁴ Reviewing established reformulation programmes in other countries may provide an indication of what is feasible as a benchmark.^{55,56}

Consideration may also be given to whether sodium should be the sole focus of reformulation. A multi-nutrient approach (for instance, sugar and/or saturated fat in addition to sodium) could help address the interplay of nutrients within foods and minimize costs related to packaging and product development. However, this involves additional work and countries may choose to tackle sodium reduction initially.⁷

For more information on setting targets for the main sources of sodium in the population, see section 3.2.

4.2.1 VOLUNTARY AND REGULATORY APPROACHES

If the main sources of sodium are processed and pre-packaged food products, the application of targets to food groups may be managed through a policy process that is based on either a voluntary or a regulatory approach. The chosen approach depends, to some degree, on the capacity of the country to monitor industry performance against commitments and/or its capacity to enforce the regulation.

Whether voluntary or regulatory, successful initiatives must have strong government oversight. For this reason, irrespective of which sector of the food supply or which food categories are being addressed, the approach must include a monitoring framework that assesses industry performance against agreed targets; this then informs the next stages of reduction.

A **voluntary approach** has been adopted in a number of countries, including Brazil, Canada, Netherlands, the United Kingdom and the United States. The approach is based on consultations with food industry representatives to establish sodium reduction targets, which are often complemented with a voluntary commitment mechanism. Most countries have committed to gradual reductions of sodium content per food category. Success depends on genuine commitment by the food industry to reach targets; determination on the part of the government to set the lowest possible targets; and government commitment to monitor progress. The voluntary approach can be initiated relatively rapidly in most countries that have basic national data on sodium intake and food sources of sodium, and it retains some flexibility to adjust the reductions targeted. It can also serve as a transition phase before legal regulations are established. If this is the intention from the outset, the food industry is initially prompted to respond to voluntary targets and is in a better position to follow through once regulations are passed. Box 10. contd

P

RESOURCES United Kingdom salt reduction programme (case study)

Food reformulation via publicprivate initiatives in the Netherlands (case study)



RESOURCES Strategies used by the food industry to reduce sodium in foods In a **regulatory approach**, targets are typically set as upper limits of salt in foods, which are legally binding. This approach has been adopted in several countries, including Argentina, Finland, Hungary, Portugal (pending) and South Africa. It has been most commonly used for widely consumed products such as breads. A regulatory approach has been assessed to be twice as cost-effective as a voluntary approach and to avert twice as much of the burden of disease.⁵⁷ For industry, this approach levels the playing field across food-processing sectors and is often preferred for this reason. Essential to the success of a regulatory approach is the capacity and willingness of the country to enforce measures, monitor changes, and enforce more stringent targets.

4.2.2 AWARENESS OF INDUSTRY OBSTACLES TO REFORMULATION

Reformulation activities are driven by public health benefit, whereas the economic model used by industry is primarily driven by profit. Industry's interests are therefore not wholly aligned with those of public health.

For this reason, a number of arguments may be employed by the food and beverage industry to claim that reducing the sodium content of certain foods is difficult or impossible.

One argument employed is that sodium reduction presents a competitive disadvantage for food producers – that it imposes higher costs, compromises taste or quality, and limits consumer demand. However, experience from around the world has shown that it is technically possible to reduce the amount of sodium significantly without affecting the product. Technical limitations are rarely a valid reason to omit a food category from a sodium reduction programme. Within almost every food category, there is already a broad range of sodium levels across similar products, which shows that it is technically feasible to produce lower-sodium options.

Consumer acceptability is more frequently put forward as an argument against reformulation. On the (supposed) basis of what is acceptable to consumers, the food industry usually offers to reformulate new products before (or rather than) addressing products that are already on the market. However, evidence suggests that it is possible to make significant reductions (40–50%) in the salt content of a range of products without consumers noticing, provided that it is done gradually.⁵⁸ As sodium intake falls, the specific taste receptors in the mouth become much more sensitive to lower concentrations of sodium.⁵⁹ Within a period of just 1–2 months, less salty food tastes as salty as the highly salted food did prior to reduction. Contrary to what is sometimes suggested, research shows that consumers do not compensate when sodium is reduced in prepared foods by adding the same amount of salt themselves.⁶⁰ For these reasons, it is unlikely that lowering sodium concentrations in foods will lead to them being rejected. On the contrary, evidence suggests that, once salt intake has been reduced, individuals prefer foods with less sodium.⁶¹

In summary, when negotiating with the food industry, it is important to remember that:

- there are many possibilities for reduced sodium products that are of good quality and retain excellent sensory properties (many products have already been successfully reformulated);
- consumers do accept food with substantially reduced sodium, provided that it is done gradually;
- _ reduction of the sodium content of foods leads to reduction in sodium intake; and
- product categories for which regulation/legislation is in place (such as bread) achieve the largest and fastest reductions in sodium content.



RESOURCES Tips on engaging with industry to reduce salt in foods

4.2.3 SMOOTHING THE ROUTE TO REFORMULATION

Conducting a **public awareness campaign** in parallel with food industry consultations can help efforts to achieve reformulation. For example, a campaign that focuses on checking food labels for sodium content can contribute to a shift in demand for new products with less sodium. The food and retail industry may welcome such a campaign and be more open to reformulation.

Establishing and building relationships between government, industry, researchers and public health bodies requires time and careful planning. Such relationships are needed to address the challenges associated with improving the nutritional composition of processed foods. A **collaborative approach** of this kind can be adopted at country level, as in the case of the Netherlands, or at multi-country level, as in the Salt Smart Consortium of the Americas. In both cases, all interested parties – including programme leaders, scientific societies, nongovernmental organizations, the food industry and retailers – participated according to their specific roles. Alternatively, the initiative can be led by the team within government with responsibility for reformulation; it can approach each food industry stakeholder and negotiate on a one-to-one basis, starting with food industry representatives who are expected to be more open to negotiation and therefore more likely to agree to setting targets.

4.3 IDENTIFYING OPPORTUNITIES FOR THE USE OF SALT SUBSTITUTES

A promising strategy to reduce sodium intake is to replace dietary salt (sodium chloride) with lower sodium salt substitutes, where sodium chloride is partially replaced with non-sodium alternatives, such as magnesium and potassium.⁶²

In low- to middle-income countries, salt substitution could represent an important public health intervention both for primary and secondary prevention of CVDs. In economically developed countries, salt substitution in the home may be more appropriate as a supplementary measure, targeting secondary prevention or those with high cardiovascular risk.

As a public health intervention, salt substitutes can be used by the food industry in products such as bread, meat, cheese, soups, snacks and other foods that are heavily consumed or have a high sodium level.⁵⁶ Salt substitutes have been identified as a solution to further reduce salt levels in foods, where limits to reformulation have been reached.⁶⁰

In countries where most of the salt consumed is added during cooking or at the table, or from high salt sauces (including table sauces) salt substitutes could be made easily available and promoted as a low cost way to reduce sodium intake. The use of salt substitutes in place of salt can effectively reduce sodium consumption while concurrently increasing potassium or magnesium intake. A meta-analysis of small randomized clinical trials showed that salt substitution reduces BP effectively and suggests that such strategies are effective at lowering systolic and diastolic BP, supporting a broader nutritional approach to preventing hypertension. The use of such substitutes in rural China has been shown to effectively lower BP.⁶³

P

RESOURCES Examples of reformulationsupporting policies in Europe

Food reformulation via publicprivate initiatives in the Netherlands (case study)

Possible model of multi-stakeholder engagement

Salt Smart Consortium Americas – Terms of Reference In 2017 the United Kingdom Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition and the Committee on Toxicity of Chemicals in Food, after careful assessment of the evidence, concluded that at population level the potential benefits of using potassium-based sodium replacers to help reduce sodium in foods outweighed the potential risks. The beneficial effects at an individual level are likely to be small in size but will impact a large proportion of the population.^{64,65}

4.4 IMPLEMENTING STANDARDS FOR FRONT-OF-PACK NUTRITION LABELLING

Implementation of effective and accurate interpretative front-of-pack nutrition labelling (FOPL) systems is an important component to help consumers identify foods that are high (or low) in salt and guide them towards healthier options. FOPL may also encourage food manufacturers to develop healthier products that contain less salt.

FOPL refers to nutrition labelling systems that:

- are presented on the front of nutrition packages (in the immediate field of vision) and can be applied across the packaged food supply;
- comprise an underpinning nutrient profile model that considers the overall nutrition quality of the product of the nutrients of concern for NCDs; and
- present simple, easy-to-understand information on the nutrient content of products, to complement the more detailed nutrition information presented on the back of pack.

There are two major categories of FOPL: **interpretative** and **non-interpretative systems**. Interpretative systems use nutrient profiles or cut-off points to create a judgement or recommendation based on nutritional content. Non-interpretative systems provide nutritional content information in a standardized format, though with no specific indication of how these related to a healthy diet. Subsystems within these groups include nutrient-based systems, summary indicator systems, endorsement logos and nutrient-based warning labels. Endorsement logos are usually considered to be health claims in international and domestic standards; however, they are included as FOPL as they are a tool for supporting healthier food choices.

Interpretative FOPL is a policy priority for promoting healthy diets. The WHO European Food and Nutrition Action Plan 2015–2020 identified the introduction of "easy-tounderstand or interpretative, consumer-friendly labelling on the front of packages" as a priority policy issue.¹⁹ Evidence indicates that consumers have a reasonable understanding of interpretative FOPL systems, and their understanding improves with label familiarity and consistency within the market.

The main components of FOPL that need to be considered include policy development, the policy framework, policy implementation and M&E of the policy.

4.4.1 FOPL POLICY DEVELOPMENT

A recent report published by the WHO Regional Office for Europe identified governmentendorsed interpretative FOPL policies in 15 Member States and summarized their development and implementation to support policy-makers to navigate these processes.⁶⁶ Most existing policies have been implemented under voluntary arrangements, with variable penetration into the marketplace. Policy development that is led by government and based on formative research, and that engages stakeholders and the public, is most likely to lead to acceptable, credible and effective policies. FOPL implementation is best supported by policy provisions that encourage widespread uptake of the system and allow for formal evaluation of both implementation and impact.

The key steps in the development of FOPL policy are broadly outlined below, using examples from within the WHO European Region.

4.4.1.1 Establishing FOPL as a nutrition policy

Most government-endorsed FOPL systems form part of policy measures to improve population nutrition. In France, FOPL was initially identified as part of the *Programme national nutrition santé* (National Nutrition Health Programme) in 2001, which included recommendations for a combination of nutrient-related laws, regulations and incentives with the aim of improving population health. In 2014, a report contained 15 new proposals to intensify the actions of the programme, including the introduction of the 5-Colour-Nutrition-Label (now referred to as Nutri-Score). In Lithuania, the government applied to the European Commission for an order to enable the installation of "a food labelling system promoting Lithuanian food manufacturers to improve the composition of foods that helps users to easily choose healthy foods".⁶⁷ The stimulus was the drive within the 2012–2016 NCD Action Plan to improve the nutrition of the population and reduce morbidity from NCDs.⁶⁸

4.4.1.2 Engagement and consultation with stakeholders

Broad stakeholder engagement and consultation have been identified as a cornerstone in establishing feasible and acceptable FOPL policies. Engagement with key stakeholders is important for the success of a FOPL system.

Stakeholders include:

- those with a health focus for example, government departments and ministries, international organizations with a focus on health, health and consumer organizations, and the scientific community, including public health and nutrition experts; and
- those with a wider economic and development interest, including an interest in food industry growth, sales and trade; such stakeholders include:
 - the wider food and agriculture sectors in particular, food manufacturers and retailers, and the scientific community involved in agriculture and food;
 - those government departments and ministries responsible for industrial development and trade.

Importantly, successful consultations have been government-led and engagement with stakeholder groups has occurred at discrete time points after interpretative FOPL has been identified as a policy priority by government. Engagement includes consecutive formal consultations with the food manufacturing and retail industries, public health organizations, health services and authorities, consumer groups, scientists and the public, and the establishment of formal committees for steering the policy's development. For example, in France, Israel and the United Kingdom, FOPL system development has been led by government, with stakeholder input managed with government oversight. Considerations for nutrient profiling criteria are not typically the topic of public consultations or industry engagement; rather, these criteria are developed or informed by independent nutrition experts, health organizations or government agencies.

4.4.1.3 Collection of formative evidence to inform FOPL policy design

Although many FOPL policies across the WHO European Region have been informed by scientific evidence on label format, content and nutrient profiling criteria to ensure these have maximal utility with the target population, no publicly available information was identified for countries other than France, Israel, Norway, Portugal, Slovenia and the United Kingdom. Information on formative evaluation to inform FOPL labelling is particularly detailed for France and the United Kingdom, where such research was undertaken over a period of three and 10 years, respectively.

4.4.2 FOPL POLICY FRAMEWORKS

Implementation is either mandatory or voluntary, and may or may not be led by government.

Most of the identified FOPL policies in the WHO European Region have been implemented under voluntary arrangements. This is at least partly a result of existing EU regulations that prevent national governments within the EU from implementing mandatory national FOPL policies. Voluntary systems can be improved by policy-makers – for example, by encouraging food manufacturers to apply FOPL across their product portfolio, not just to selected (often healthier) products.

4.4.3 FOPL POLICY IMPLEMENTATION

Some countries in the WHO European Region have implemented FOPL, but this has taken different forms, with various degrees of interpretation of the nutritional composition of foods. Research provides evidence on the effectiveness of the various schemes, as well as a theoretical framework for countries to use in order to develop or adapt a FOPL scheme that is evidence-based and suited to the national context.

The WHO Regional Office for Europe has developed a manual that provides guidance on how to develop and implement front-of-pack nutrition labelling systems. The manual details a five-step process:

- 1. select the specific strategy: what is expected from an FOPL
- 2. select the type of FOPL graphical design
- 3. determine the underlying nutrient profiling system
- 4. define studies to be performed to select the final format
- 5. establish monitoring processes to assess implementation

4.4.4 FOPL POLICY MONITORING AND EVALUATION

Monitoring and evaluation should be included in implementation planning for a FOPL system. Evaluation of FOPL policy spans process, impact and outcome measures:

- process evaluation indicators measure policy implementation progress, including the activities undertaken and their quality and reach;
- impact evaluation is used to define the assessment of short-term results of a policy or programme (such as changes to KAB); and
- outcome evaluation indicators refer to measurement of the ultimate effects of an intervention, such as the impact on nutrition or health outcomes.



RESOURCES Manual to develop and implement front-of-pack nutrition labelling

Guidance for countries on the selection and testing of evidence-informed FOPL systems in the WHO European Region

4.5 IMPLEMENTING STANDARDS FOR MARKETING TO CHILDREN

The food industry typically employs a range of marketing strategies to promote its products, which are often detrimental to health. Many existing policies and regulations aimed at tackling food marketing to children are markedly insufficient. As a consequence, children continue to be exposed to commercial messages promoting foods that are high in fats, salt and sugar (HFSS), and this influences their food preferences, purchase requests and ultimately consumption patterns.^{69,70,71,72}

In May 2010, the World Health Assembly unanimously adopted the Set of Recommendations on the Marketing of Foods and Non-alcoholic Beverages to Children.^{73,74} These recommendations urge countries to reduce the impact on children of the marketing of energy-dense, highly processed HFSS foods and beverages. The recommendations broadly include: ensuring consensus across government; conducting a situational analysis; selecting a comprehensive or stepwise approach across marketing platforms; implementation; enforcement; and monitoring, evaluation and research.^{69,75}

4.5.1 IMPLEMENTING RECOMMENDATIONS For marketing standards

While all 53 countries in the WHO European Region have taken some steps to address inappropriate marketing of unhealthy foods and beverages to children, implementation of the Set of Recommendations continues to be patchy. Current efforts by Member States are now complicated by rapid changes in digital and programmatic marketing strategies. Consequently, WHO has called on Member States to introduce restrictions on marketing of HFSS foods to children, covering all media, including digital, and to close any regulatory loopholes. To support this, the WHO Regional Office for Europe has developed the CLICK framework to facilitate monitoring of children's exposure to unhealthy products online and to further support implementation of the WHO recommendations in online settings.^{76,77}

Further, a recent report evaluating the implementation of the WHO Set of Recommendations in the WHO European Region encouraged countries to consider the following points.⁶⁷

- Most existing action focuses on broadcast advertising only, despite clear evidence that children are exposed to marketing through many other avenues: in the digital sphere, via product display, and through packaging and sponsorship of HFSS foods. Countries therefore need to adopt a more comprehensive approach to HFSS food marketing regulation.
- Existing regulations typically limit their scope to child-oriented programming and focus primarily on advertising, leaving a broad range of programmes, media and marketing techniques to which children are exposed unregulated. Countries should therefore ensure that they focus on establishing policies to effectively reduce children's actual exposure to HFSS food marketing, rather than policies based on the classification of content or media.
- Existing rules typically only seek to protect children up to a certain age (typically 12 or 13 years), even though a growing body of evidence suggests that adolescents are also negatively affected by HFSS food marketing. The scope of rules should be extended to protect all children under the age of 18.

- Countries have not always adopted effective food categorization systems to determine what foods should not be marketed to children. They should ensure that they use existing, or develop new, evidence-based nutrient-profiling systems that effectively identify unhealthy food according to nutritional quality.
- Countries have failed to effectively regulate cross-border marketing, at a regional level, as well as social media influencers; they should reflect on how better cooperation and harmonization could avoid weakening national HFSS food marketing restrictions and could strengthen efforts to address the global issue of food marketing in digital media.

4.5.1.1 Nutrient profile models

In order to support countries in identifying unhealthy foods, the WHO Regional Office for Europe has developed a nutrient profile model for use and adaptation by Member States to support the development of policies to restrict food marketing to children.⁷⁸

The nutrient profile model can be used by governments for the purpose of restricting food marketing to children. It defines five main steps for governments (or the food industry) to determine whether a food product may or may not be marketed to children:

- 1. identify which food category the food product falls within;
- cross-check the nutrient composition of the food product against category thresholds;
- 3. assess whether the food product is as sold or reconstituted;
- 4. if the marketing is for a meal or two or more food products, all parts must be assessed against the nutrient criteria; and
- 5. check whether the food product has a protected designation of origin or is a traditional speciality, which may exempt it from marketing restrictions.

4.5.2 EVALUATION AND MONITORING OF MARKETING ON TV AND DIGITAL MEDIA

Monitoring the marketing of unhealthy products to children and adolescents is fundamental in order to encourage and sustain implementation of regulations and restrictions by Member States. To strengthen monitoring and evaluation, the WHO Regional Office for Europe has developed a training unit which includes protocols and tools.

The training unit provides protocols and templates for monitoring food marketing in audiovisual media (TV and Internet). The unit covers manual methods that are relatively simple and low-cost but also indicates where more complex or costly methods could be considered (for instance, methods that require data purchase). The templates can all be adapted to individual countries to ensure that the best possible study is conducted within the specific circumstances (cost, feasibility, researcher time).

The components provided by the training unit include:

- an overview of key issues in psychological and marketing research as they relate to evaluation of food marketing exposure, power and impact on children of all ages;
- step-by-step protocols for conducting monitoring in TV and digital media;
- coding templates with variables to measure exposure and power in marketing;

- examples of completed coding on templates, with associated explanations to support learning about the coding process (on request);
- guidance on statistical analyses;
- _ templates for writing official reports and/or journal articles to communicate findings; and
- _ optional training in monitoring study design and methods.

The training tool is designed to be a live package of resources. Media are evolving rapidly, as are the analytical tools designed to study them. Therefore, when updates to the contents of the unit are made, they will be flagged and dated with a new version number.

For monitoring of digital media, the unit provides relatively simple protocols and methods that Member States can use without specialist tools, skills or data purchase. However, for a deeper and more comprehensive understanding of children's exposure to digital marketing, the CLICK framework provides a high-level guide for researchers and public health experts to design larger-scale approaches.

4.6 INTERVENTIONS IN SETTINGS TO SUPPORT LESS CONSUMPTION OF SALT

Policy interventions that address public health need not operate only at the national level. Some interventions may be easier to initiate and show quicker results if they are implemented in specific settings such as communities, schools, workplaces and health facilities. Settings-based approaches to salt reduction have been implemented in many countries in the WHO European Region, including Estonia, Finland, France, Latvia, Poland, Portugal, Romania and the United Kingdom.

A settings-based approach includes some of the same strategies as the populationwide approach, such as awareness building (including promoting health literacy and social marketing); setting limits on sodium in food; reformulation of meals to contain less salt; and monitoring and evaluation of programmes. What goes into foods and meals served in institutional settings such as schools, workplaces and hospitals can be regulated, which makes it possible to introduce standards and set maximum limits for the amount of sodium permitted in foods and meals.

Specific interventions and promotion of a so-called less sodium message can usually be introduced easily into an existing initiative (such as Healthy Cities, Healthy Schools, Healthy Hospitals or Healthy Workplaces), where it can appear as part of a healthy eating component. It is necessary to evaluate the maturity and openness of existing initiatives, as it is easier to include salt reduction content if they already have well developed wellness and dietary policy components.

It is very important to link the salt reduction programme's goals, objectives and work plan with existing objectives – for example, educational objectives of the education ministry and the business objectives (such as enhanced productivity of employees) of private-sector workplaces. It is also important to have strong leadership support at the highest level (such as the education minister or the mayor) and the active participation of beneficiaries (such as schoolchildren, employees and community members).

P

RESOURCES

CLICK monitoring framework for the digital marketing of unhealthy products to children⁷⁵

WHO Regional Office for Europe nutrient profile model⁷⁶

WHO Regional office for Europe monitoring and evaluation of marketing to children training As a starting point, there needs to be a decision about which setting is best suited for intervention. Which strategies to consider will then depend on an environmental scan of the setting.

- Which foods and beverages are currently served within the organization (to identify high-sodium products and the availability of lower-sodium, nutrient-rich options)?⁷⁹
- 2. Who are the caterers and is there a procurement policy?⁸⁰
- 3. Are there places where food can be purchased (vending machines, kiosks, etc.)?
- 4. Are there any other activities/opportunities that could facilitate communication, education or social marketing?

4.6.1 STRATEGIES AND APPROACHES

4.6.1.1 Food policy and standards

A comprehensive food policy should include:

- procurement requirements (sodium standards for foods purchased and served);
- restrictions on the level of sodium in foods for sale or available in tuck shops, cafeterias, onsite restaurants, vending machines, etc.;
- restrictions on the level of sodium in foods that have been donated, as well as in catered foods for meetings, congregate meals, holiday parties and special events;
- _ implementation of reduced pricing for healthful foods; and
- inclusion in school curricula of lessons on salt and health and instructions on how to reduce sodium intake.

4.6.1.2 Modifying the surrounding environment

Environment plays an important role in influencing diets and dietary choices. Reminders of healthy eating throughout a specific setting can positively contribute to reduced sodium intake. Such reminders include:

- placing more healthful options that are also low in salt, such as fruit, near the point of food purchase;
- adding healthful food options to vending machines or placing traditional vending machines in low-traffic areas;
- establishing gardens around schools, worksites and institutions to grow and sell food to employees, students and visitors; and
- restricting marketing of HFSS foods.

4.6.1.3 Consumer awareness and social marketing techniques to shift behaviours

Raising awareness involves the use of activities such as advertising lower-sodium and more nutritious foods where foods are sold or distributed in order to educate setting participants and promote low-sodium diets. This strategy can complement changes made to the built environment through inclusion of signs and labels in places where people gather and eat.

Social marketing actions that can be effectively employed include:

 placing salt warning labels on food packages with excess sodium or on shelves where products are sold, for instance in tuck shops, canteens and cafeterias;

- using signs and posters to highlight foods that are nutrient-rich and lower in sodium, such as fruit and vegetables, and incorporating frequent low-sodium messaging into other healthy advertisement;
- providing free taste tests in cafeterias and asking for feedback to gauge consumer acceptability;
- offering diet education during new employee training;
- offering food service staff professional development training in the preparation of low-sodium foods;
- developing low-salt recipe books to provide guidance on how to cook tasty, popular foods that are low in salt; and
- giving cooking lessons and demonstrations to show people how to cook healthy, tasty foods using alternatives to salt to provide flavour to foods and meals.

4.6.2 POTENTIAL SETTINGS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF SALT REDUCTION INTERVENTIONS

4.6.2.1 School

Schools are an important setting for promoting health and well-being. School-based public health programmes extend beyond their impact on children's health as they can also benefit families and the wider community.

Effective interventions for salt reduction in schools are multi-component and can integrate dietary salt reduction into overall school food policies. Some examples include:

- integrating the topic into curricula;
- placing warnings or good choice labels on foods distributed daily or donated for celebrations;
- adapting physical environments by changing the content offered through food machines or sold in cafeterias;
- introducing procurement policies stipulating the maximum sodium content in meals prepared or procured for canteens and cafeterias;
- promoting healthy options such as fruit and vegetables and other healthy alternatives.

4.6.2.2 Workplace

A workplace environment that supports healthy eating can significantly contribute to the health and well-being of all employees. How and what to include will depend on the overall policy at the workplace and its commitment to the health and well-being of workers and their families. Ensuring that both foods available for purchase and those provided to employees meet pre-established sodium criteria is a key element in limiting total daily sodium consumption.

4.6.2.3 Community

Salt reduction programmes can be initiated at a lower government level than the national government, sometimes in a community setting such as a city, town or village. There are opportunities at these levels of governance to address specific challenges that affect people in the local community. Many cities have become role models for commitment and actions to ensure equitable and sustainable development and peaceful, prosperous and just societies. Associations of municipalities, as well



RESOURCES United Kingdom maximum and average salt/sodium targets (example)

Box 11. The Healthy Cities Network



RESOURCES National policies/guidelines to reduce salt in canteen settings

Case studies describing countries that have implemented national policies or guidelines for food served in school, hospital and workplace settings as international projects such as Healthy Cities (see box 11), bring city representatives together to discuss and endorse international agendas. These networks can help to progress towards the United Nations 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and the Sustainable Development Goals, by adjusting programmes to respond to that agenda to local conditions. Local communities are ideal settings for forging partnerships between national governments, international organizations and different sectors and levels of government, as well as with civil society and their populations.

THE HEALTHY CITIES NETWORK

The WHO Healthy Cities Network offers a transformative approach to tackling today's greatest public health challenges. Based on Health 2020, the European regional policy framework and strategy for health and well-being, the network takes account of the social, environmental, cultural, behavioural, commercial and political determinants of health and well-being, and recognizes the role that cities and urban places play in disease prevention and health promotion. The range of opportunities to influence city policies includes procurement related to the preschool, school, worksite and hospital food environment, agreements (voluntary or regulatory) with restaurants and supermarkets to provide healthier choices, economic incentives for local producers of fruits and vegetables, and taxes on HFSS foods.

Population awareness building

- background information secured
- target audience selected
- communication goals and objectives ready
- campaign brand/logo ready
- M&E defined
- ✓ implementation plan in place
- ✓ budget developed and secured

If social marketing component introduced

- target audience segmented
- demand-supply component introduced
- creative concept developed
- marketing mix defined
- focus group selected
- materials pretested

Reformulation

Decision on voluntary or regulatory approach made *If voluntary approach*

- ✓ different stakeholders engaged, including food industry
- targets and timelines discussed and agreed with stakeholders, including food industry
- monitoring mechanisms in place
- reporting timelines, sources and channels agreed

If regulatory approach

- targets and timelines in place
- ✓ analysis of supporting policies done
- ✓ control of implementation in place
- monitoring mechanisms in place
- reporting timelines, sources and channels identified

Front-of-pack labelling

- ✓ specific strategy selected
- FOPL design selected
- underlying nutrient profiling system identified
- studies to be performed designed
- M&E plan established and in place

SECTION 4. POLICY INTERVENTION

CHECKLIST





- ✓ policy approach determined
- ✓ foods and beverages to be included identified (nutrient profile model)
- policy implementation approach determined (statutory regulatory or self-regulation)
- M&E systems in place (CLICK tool to monitor and evaluate digital marketing)

Environment and supportive settings

Decision on strategies and settings in place If schools or workplace setting

- key stakeholders mobilized
- ✓ strategies and actions decided and developed
- ✓ food policy and standards developed
- ✓ procurement policy implemented
- food environment modified to facilitate healthy choice
- ✓ M&E plan and indicators in place

If community setting

- key stakeholders mobilized
- ✓ awareness campaign developed
- strategies and actions decided and developed (Codex recommendations; restaurant chain menus with salt content, etc.)
- coordination and synergy with other supportive policies analysed
- M&E plan and indicators in place

RESOURCES

- > Developing a population awareness building plan
- Social media campaign in support of World Salt Awareness Week 2012 (case study)
- Social marketing
- Food reformulation via public-private initiatives in the Netherlands (case study)
- Strategies used by the food industry to reduce sodium in foods
- > Tips on engaging with industry to reduce salt in foods
- > Examples of reformulation-supporting policies in Europe
- > Possible model of multi-stakeholder engagement
- > United Kingdom maximum and average salt/sodium targets (example)
- > National policies/guidelines to reduce salt in canteen settings

 $\langle Q \rangle$

REFERENCES

- Eaton SB, Konner M. Paleolithic nutrition: a consideration of its nature and current implications. N Engl J Med. 1985;312(5):283-9.
- 2 Popkin BM. Relationship between shifts in food system dynamics and acceleration of the global nutrition transition. Nutr Rev. 2017;75(2):73–82.
- 3 Popkin BM, Adair LS, Ng SW. Global nutrition transition and the pandemic of obesity in developing countries. Nutr Rev. 2012;70(1):3–21.
- 4 Strazzullo P, D'Elia L, Kandala N, Cappuccio FP. Salt intake, stroke, and cardiovascular disease: meta-analysis of prospective studies. BMJ. 2009;339:b4567.
- 5 Bibbins-Domingo K, Chertow GM, Coxson PG, Moran A, Lightwood JM, Pletcher MJ et al. Projected effect of dietary salt reductions on future cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med. 2010;362(7):590–9.
- 6 Joffres F, Campbell NR, Manns B, Tu K. Estimate of the benefits of a population-based reduction in dietary sodium additives on hypertension and its related health care costs in Canada. Can J Cardiol. 2007;23(6):437-43.
- 7 Revised salt reduction targets: impact assessment. London: Food Standards Agency; 2009 (https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20110406013819/http://www.food.gov.uk/foodindustry/ regulation/betregs/ria/ria2009/salt).
- 8 Selmer RM, Kristiansen IS, Haglerod A, Graff-Iversen S, Larsen HK, Meyer HE et al. Cost and health consequences of reducing the population intake of salt. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2000;54(9):697–702.
- 9 Guideline: sodium intake for adults and children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/guidelines/sodium_intake_printversion.pdf).
- 10 Updated Appendix 3 of the WHO Global NCD Action Plan 2013–2020. Technical Annex (Version dated 12 April 2017). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://www.who.int/ncds/ governance/technical_annex.pdf).
- 11 Asaria P, Chisholm D, Mathers C, Ezzati M, Beaglehole R. Chronic disease prevention: health effects and financial costs of strategies to reduce salt intake and control tobacco use. Lancet. 2007;370(9604):2044-53.
- 12 Palar K, Sturm R. Potential societal savings from reduced sodium consumption in the U.S. adult population. Am J Health Promot. 2009;24(1):49–57.
- 13 Trieu K, Webster J, Jan S, Hope S, Naseri T, Ieremia M et al. Process evaluation of Samoa's national salt reduction strategy (MASIMA): what interventions can be successfully replicated in lower-income countries. Implement Sci. 2018;13(1):107.
- 14 Ferrante D, Apro N, Ferreira V, Virgolini M, Aguilar V, Sosa M et al. Feasibility of salt reduction in processed foods in Argentina. Rev Panam Salud Publica. 2011;29(2):69–75.
- 15 Ji C, Cappuccio FP. Socioeconomic inequality in salt intake in Britain 10 years after a national salt reduction programme. BMJ Open. 2014;4(8):e005683.
- 16 Rodriguez-Fernandez R, Sippa M, Simpson SJ, Amiya RM, Breda J, Cappuccio FP. Current salt reduction policies across gradients of inequality-adjusted human development in the WHO European Region: minding the gaps. Public Health Nutr. 2014;17(8):1894–904.
- 17 Capewell S, Graham H. Will cardiovascular disease prevention widen health inequalities? PLoS Med. 2010;7(8):e1000320.
- 18 Webster JL, Dunford EK, Hawkes C, Neal BC. Salt reduction initiatives around the world. J Hypertens. 2011;29(6):1043–50.

[°] Unless otherwise stated, all internet links given in the References section were accessed on 9 July 2020.

- 19 European Food and Nutrition Action Plan 2015–2020. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2014 (http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/253727/64wd14e_FoodNutAP_140426. pdf).
- 20 Hendriksen MA, Verkaik-Kloosterman J, Noort MW, van Raaij JM. Nutritional impact of sodium reduction strategies on sodium intake from processed foods. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2015;69(7):805–10.
- 21 Mattes RD, Donnelly D. Relative contributions of dietary sodium sources. J Am Coll Nutr. 1991;10(4):383-93.
- 22 11th Meeting of the WHO Action Network on Salt Reduction in the Population in the European Region (ESAN): meeting report. Bern, Switzerland, 7-8 May 2019. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020 (https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/426205/01.29-ESAN-meeting-Bern-May-2019-report.pdf).
- 23 Monitoring noncommunicable disease commitments in Europe. Theme in focus: progress monitor indicators. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2017 (http://www.euro.who. int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/351518/Monitoring-NCD.pdf).
- 24 He FJ, Brinsden HC, MacGregor GA. Salt reduction in the United Kingdom: a successful experiment in public health. J Hum Hypertens. 2014;28(6):345–52.
- 25 Trieu K, Neal B, Hawkes C, Dunford E, Campbell N, Rodriguez-Fernandez R et al. Salt reduction initiatives around the world: a systematic review of progress towards the global target. PLoS One. 2015;10(7):e0130247.
- 26 Cappuccio FP, Capewell S, Lincoln P, McPherson K. Policy options to reduce population salt intake. BMJ. 2011;343:d4995.
- 27 Cappuccio F, Capewell S. Facts, issues, and controversies in salt reduction for the prevention of cardiovascular disease. Funct Food Rev. 2015;7(1):41–61.
- 28 WHO STEPS surveillance manual: the WHO STEPwise approach to noncommunicable disease risk factor surveillance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://www.who.int/ncds/ surveillance/steps/STEPS_Manual.pdf).
- 29 Cappuccio FP, Beer M, Strazzullo P, European Salt Action Network. Population dietary salt reduction and the risk of cardiovascular disease: a scientific statement from the European Salt Action Network. Nutr Met Cardiovasc Dis. 2018;29(2):107–14.
- 30 Campbell NC, He FJ, Tan M, Cappuccio FP, Neal B, Woodward M et al. The International Consortium for Quality Research on Dietary Sodium/Salt (TRUE) position statement on the use of 24-hour, spot, and short duration (<24 hours) timed urine collections to assess dietary sodium intake. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2019;21(6):700–9.
- 31 Cappuccio FP, Sever PS, British and Irish Hypertension Society. The importance of a valid assessment of salt intake in individuals and populations: a scientific statement of the British and Irish Hypertension Society. J Hum Hypertens. 2019;33(5):345–8.
- 32 McLean RM, Farmer VL, Nettleton A, Cameron CM, Cook NR, Campbell NR et al. Assessment of dietary sodium intake using a food frequency questionnaire and 24-hour urinary sodium excretion: a systematic literature review. J Clin Hypertens. 2017;19(12):1214–30.
- 33 Freedman LS, Commins JM, Moler JE, Willett W, Tinker LF, Subar AF et al. Pooled results from 5 validation studies of dietary self-report instruments using recovery biomarkers for potassium and sodium intake. Am J Epidemiol. 2015;181(7):473–87.
- 34 Cogswell ME, Maalouf J, Elliott P, Loria CM, Patel S, Bowman BA. Use of urine biomarkers to assess sodium intake: challenges and opportunities. Annu Rev Nutr. 2015;35:349–87.
- 35 FEEDcities project: a comprehensive characterization of the street food environment in cities. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2019 (http://www.euro.who.int/en/healthtopics/disease-prevention/nutrition/publications/2019/feedcities-project-a-comprehensivecharacterization-of-the-street-food-environment-in-cities-2019).
- 36 Determination of salt. CLG-SLT.03. Washington (DC): United States Department of Agriculture and Inspection Service, Office of Public Health Service; 2009 (https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/ wcm/connect/b477e0ba-d7a8-4cf2-b42d-b9b284a285a6/CLG_SLT_03.pdf?M0D=AJPERES).
- 37 Neal B, Sacks G, Swinburn B, Vandevijvere S, Dunford E, Snowdon W et al. Monitoring the levels of important nutrients in the food supply. Obes Rev. 2013;14(S1):49–58.
- 38 Arcand J, Blanco-Metzler A, Benavides Aguilar K, L'Abbe MR, Legetic B. Sodium levels in packaged foods sold in 14 Latin American and Caribbean countries: a food label analysis. Nutrients. 2019:11(2):369.
- 39 More details can be found at: https://www.georgeinstitute.org/projects/foodswitch.

- 40 More details can be found at https://labbelab.utoronto.ca/projects/the-canadian-food-supply.
- 41 Milder I, Toxopeus I, Westenbrink S, van den Bogaard C, van Raiij J, Temme E. Salt, saturated fat and sugars in selected foods in EU Member States. EuroFIR, edited by Dutch National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (RIVM); 2015.
- 42 Adapted from: Campbell N, Legowski B, Legetic B, Ferrante D, Nilson E, Campbell C et al. Targets and timelines for reducing salt in processed food in the Americas. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2014;16(9):619–23.
- 43 Using dietary intake modelling to achieve population salt reduction: a guide to developing a country-specific salt reduction model. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2018 (http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/365242/salt-report-eng.pdf).
- 44 Salt reduction saves lives [media release]. London: Consensus Action on Salt and Health; 2014 (http://www.actiononsalt.org.uk/news/news/2014/items/salt-reduction-saves-lives.html).
- 45 Sadler K, Nicholson S, Steer T, Gill V, Bates B, Tipping S et al. National Diet and Nutrition Survey Assessment of dietary sodium in adults (aged 19 to 64 years) in England, 2011. London: Department of Health; 2011 (https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ attachment_data/file/213420/Sodium-Survey-England-2011_Text_to-DH_FINAL1.pdf).
- 46 He FJ, Pombo-Rodrigues S, MacGregor GA. Salt reduction in England from 2003 to 2011: its relationship to blood pressure, stroke and ischaemic heart disease mortality. BMJ Open. 2014;4:e004549.
- 47 Health Literacy Action Plan. Atlanta (GA): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (https:// www.cdc.gov/healthliteracy/planact/cdcplan.html).
- 48 Health literacy: the solid facts. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2013 (http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/190655/e96854.pdf).
- 49 Comparative report on health literacy in eight EU member states. European Health Literacy Project 2009–2012. HLS-EU Consortium. Vienna: Ludwig Boltzmann Institute for Health Promotion Research, 2012.
- 50 Andreasen AR, Kotler PT. Strategic marketing for nonprofit organizations, 7th edition. London: Pearson; 2008.
- 51 Bardfield L. Applying a social marketing framework to salt reduction. Washington (DC): FHi360; 2012 (https://www.paho.org/hq/dmdocuments/2013/Applying-Social-Marketing-Strategy-Salt-Reduction-2012-Eng.pdf).
- 52 Communication for behavioural impact (COMBI): a toolkit for behavioural and social communication in outbreak response. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/ handle/10665/75170/WH0_HSE_GCR_2012.13_eng.pdf).
- 53 Barton P, Andronis L, Briggs A, McPherson K, Capewell S. Effectiveness and cost effectiveness of cardiovascular disease prevention in whole populations: modelling study. BMJ. 2011;343:d4044.
- 54 van Raaij J, Hendriksen M, Verhagen H. Potential for improvement of population diet through reformulation of commonly eaten foods. Public Health Nutr. 2009;12(3):325–30.
- 55 Food innovation and reformulation for a healthier Europe: a challenging mission. Brussels: European Food Information Council; 2010 (https://www.eufic.org/en/food-today/article/foodinnovation-and-reformulation-for-a-healthier-europe-a-challenging-miss).
- 56 Webster J. Reformulating food products for health: context and key issues for moving forward in Europe. Sydney: George Institute for International Health; 2009.
- 57 Murray CJ, Lauer JA, Hutubessy RC, Niessen L, Tomijima N, Rodgers A et al. Effectiveness and costs of interventions to lower systolic blood pressure and cholesterol: a global and regional analysis on reduction of cardiovascular-disease risk. Lancet. 2003;361(9359):717–25.
- 58 Kloss L, Meyer JD, Graeve L, Vetter W. Sodium intake and its reduction by food reformulation in the European Union: a review. NFS J. 2015;1:9–19.
- 59 Fe FJ, Campbell NRC, MacGregor GA. Reducing salt intake to prevent hypertension and cardiovascular disease. Rev Panam Salud Publica. 2012;32(4):293–300.
- 60 Shepherd R, Farleigh CA, Wharf SG. Limited compensation by table salt for reduced salt within a meal. Appetite. 1989;13(3):193–200.
- 61 Teow BH, Di Nicolantonio R, Morgan TO. Sodium chloride preference and recognition threshold in normotensive subjects on high and low salt diet. Clin Exp Hypertens A. 1985–1986;7(12):1681–95.
- 62 Farrand C, MacGregor G, Campbell NRC, Webster J. Potential use of salt substitutes to reduce blood pressure. J Clin Hypertens. 2019;21:350–4.

- 63 Marklund M, Singh G, Greer R, Cudhea F, Matsushi K, Micha R et al. Estimated population wide benefits and risks in China of lowering sodium through potassium enriched salt substitution: modelling study. BMJ. 2020;369:m824.
- 64 Potassium-based sodium replacers: assessment of the health benefits and risks of using potassium-based sodium replacers in food in the UK. A joint statement from the Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition and the Committee on Toxicity of Chemicals in Food, Consumer Products and the Environment. London: Department of Health; 2017(https://assets. publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/660526/ SACN_COT_--Potassium-based_sodium_replacers.pdf).
- 65 Hernandez A, Emonds EE, Chen BA, Zavala-Loayza JA, Pasupuleti V, Roman-Morillo YM et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of low sodium salt substitutes on cardiovascular outcomes. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2018;71(11 Suppl.):A1749.
- 66 Kelly B, Jewell J. What is the evidence on the policy specifications, development processes and effectiveness of existing front-of-pack food labelling policies in the WHO European Region? Health Evidence Network (HEN) synthesis report 61. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2018 (https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/384460/Web-WHO-HEN-Report-61-on-FOPL.pdf).
- 67 Order of the Minister for Health of the Republic of Lithuania amending order No. V-50 of the Minister for Health of the Republic of Lithuania of 22 January 2014 regarding the "keyhole" symbol used for food labelling. Brussels: European Commission; 2016 (http://ec.europa.eu/ growth/ tools-databases/tris/en/search/?trisaction=search.detail&year=2016&num=110).
- 68 Action Plan for Implementation of the European Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases 2012–2016. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2012 (https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/170155/e96638.pdf).
- 69 Evaluating implementation of the WHO Set of Recommendations on the Marketing of Foods and Non-alcoholic Beverages to Children: progress, challenges and guidance for next steps in the WHO European Region. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2018 (https://www. euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/384015/food-marketing-kids-eng.pdf).
- 70 Boyland E, Tatlow-Golden M. Exposure, power and impact of food marketing on children: evidence supports strong restrictions. Eur J Risk Regul. 2017;8(2):224–36.
- 71 Report of the Commission on Ending Childhood Obesity. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/204176/9789241510066_eng.pdf).
- 72 Boyland EJ, Nolan S, Kelly B, Tudur-Smith C, Jones A, Halford JC et al. Advertising as a cue to consume: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of acute exposure to unhealthy food and nonalcoholic beverage advertising on intake in children and adults. Am J Clin Nutr. 2016;103(2):519–33.
- 73 Set of Recommendations on the Marketing of Foods and Non-alcoholic Beverages to Children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/ handle/10665/44416/9789241500210_eng.pdf).
- 74 A framework for implementing the Set of Recommendations on the Marketing of Foods and Non-alcoholic Beverages to Children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://apps. who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/80148/9789241503242_eng.pdf).
- 75 Clark H, Coll-Seck AM, Banerjee A, Peterson S, Dalglish SL, Ameratunga S et al. A future for the world's children? A WHO-UNICEF-Lancet Commission. Lancet. 2020;395(10224):605–58.
- 76 Monitoring and restricting digital marketing of unhealthy products to children and adolescents. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2018 (https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/ pdf_file/0008/396764/Online-version_Digital-Mktg_March2019.pdf).
- 77 Bica M, Wickramasinghe K, Zhiteneva O, Boyland E, Tatlow-Golden M, Ireland T et al. CLICK: the WHO Europe framework to monitor the digital marketing of unhealthy foods to children and adolescents. UNSCN Nutrition. 2020;45:69–74.
- 78 WHO Regional Office for Europe nutrient profile model. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2015 (https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/270716/Nutrientchildren_web-new.pdf).
- 79 L'Abbé M, Schermel A, Minaker L, Kelly B, Lee A, Vandevijvere S et al. Monitoring foods and beverages provided and sold in public sector settings. Obes Rev. 2013;14(Suppl. 1):1:96–107.
- 80 Niebylski ML, Lu T, Campbell NR, Arcand J, Schermel A, Hua D et al. Healthy food procurement policies and their impact. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2014;11(3):2608–27.

ACCELERATING SALT REDUCTION IN EUROPE



The WHO Regional Office for Europe

The World Health Organization (WHO) is a specialized agency of the United Nations created in 1948 with the primary responsibility for international health matters and public health. The WHO Regional Office for Europe is one of six regional offices throughout the world, each with its own programme geared to the particular health conditions of the countries it serves.

Member States

Albania
Andorra
Armenia
Austria
Azerbaijan
Belarus
Belgium
Bosnia and Herzegovina
Bulgaria
Croatia
Cyprus
Czechia
Denmark
Estonia
Finland
France
Georgia
Germany

Greece Hungary Iceland Ireland Israel Italy Kazakhstan Kyrgyzstan Latvia Lithuania Luxembourg Malta Monaco Montenegro Netherlands North Macedonia Norway Poland

Portugal Republic of Moldova Romania **Russian Federation** San Marino Serbia Slovakia Slovenia Spain Sweden Switzerland Tajikistan Turkey Turkmenistan Ukraine United Kingdom Uzbekistan

World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe

UN City, Marmorvej 51, DK-2100, Copenhagen Ø, Denmark Tel.: +45 45 33 70 00 Fax: +45 45 33 70 01 Email: eurocontact@who.int Website: www.euro.who.int